**Distribution Agreement** 

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world-wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Sho Takeuchi

<u>April/4/2023</u> Date Evaluation of "Positive Motion" Dance Program

for Older People and People with Disabilities in Atlanta, Georgia

Ву

Sho Takeuchi

Master of Public Health

Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences

Cam Escoffery, PhD, MPH, CHES

**Committee Chair** 

Kara Jacobson, MPH

Committee Member

Ruth M. Parker, MD, MACP

Committee Member

Don Operario, PhD

Department Chair

# Evaluation of "Positive Motion" Dance Program for Older People and People with Disabilities in Atlanta, Georgia

By

Sho Takeuchi Bachelor of Medicine Keio University, Tokyo, Japan, 2014

Thesis Committee Chair: Cam Escoffery, PhD, MPH, CHES

## An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health In Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences

#### Abstract

Physical activity is beneficial for older adults, but those residing in Atlanta have not attained enough physical activity because of personal and social barriers. This study evaluated the impact of "Positive Motion," a 10-week dance program based out of The Atlanta Dance Academy's Foundation and included gualitative and guantitative methods to assess the program's impact on to explore their motivation, facilitators, and barriers to physical activity and evaluate the program. Among the participants, 81.3% were female, and 68.8% were Black/African American. The participants had intrinsic and extrinsic motivations (introjected and identified regulation) for physical activity. The facilitators included social interaction with families and friends/neighbors, while the barriers were personal health conditions and social determinants of health, such as walkability, public transportation. The "Positive Motion" program had high satisfaction, but 50% of the participants dropped out of the program. The evaluation found that the program supports older people who are not very physically active. Older people in Atlanta experienced some social barriers to physical activity, such as neighborhood context, transportation, or inclement weather. The flexible and inclusive culture of the "Positive Motion" program helped the participants to be retained in the program, continue their physical activity, and improve their overall well-being. The program also stimulated their intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Future program recruitment could be focused on older adults who are not very physically active. Social support for older adults in Atlanta needs to be offered. Future research should investigate participants who drop out of the program.

# Evaluation of "Positive Motion" Dance Program for Older People and People with Disabilities in Atlanta, Georgia

Ву

Sho Takeuchi Bachelor of Medicine Keio University, Tokyo, Japan, 2014

Thesis Committee Chair: Cam Escoffery, PhD, MPH, CHES

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health In Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences

## Acknowledgements

I am sincerely grateful for the opportunity and support I have received to complete this thesis.

First, I would like to thank my thesis committee. Dr. Cam Escoffery provided me with insightful guidance through the research protocol, the Emory Institutional Review Board submission, data collection and analysis, and writing this thesis. I am grateful for all the advice and suggestions you have offered. Your support enabled me to plan, conduct, and analyze qualitative data, even though English is not my native language. Ms. Kara Jacobson and Dr. Ruth M. Parker gave me the opportunity to collaborate with The Atlanta Dance Academy (TADA) and supported the data collection process. This project could not have happened without their assistance.

I would also like to thank the instructors of GRAD 700R Interdisciplinary Seminar: Interprofessional Ed & SDOH, especially Dr. Stacie Schmidt. This thesis project originally started as an in-class capstone project.

Additionally, I appreciate Dr. Julie A. Gazmararian for her feedback on the project.

Thank you to all TADA instructors and staff, including Marci, a volunteer instructor, and all the "Positive Motion" program participants and research participants, including A.G. Rhodes Atlanta. Thanks to their voluntary and passionate contributions, I learned about the barriers to physical activity that older adults in Atlanta face. Furthermore, their enthusiastic attitude contributed to the continuation of the "Positive Motion" dance program after I completed data collection.

I am grateful to my parents and friends in Japan and Atlanta. I received a lot of support from them off-campus, and they always believed in me and encouraged me to challenge myself and be optimistic.

Lastly, I appreciate the Emory Prevention Research Center Mini-grant for the financial support for the project. I also appreciate Fulbright Foreign Student Program, Fulbright-Mikitani Memorial Grant, and Japan-United States Educational Exchange Promotion Foundation Foreign Student Program (Yamada Foundation) for the financial support for my studies at Rollins.

Thank you all.

## **Table of Contents**

Acronym 1
Chapter 1 Introduction
Research questions
Chapter 2 Literature Review
Older Americans in the United States5
PA and its guidelines
Inactivity for Older Adults in the United States and Georgia
Benefits of PA for Older Adults8
Barriers to PA9
Social Determinants of PA10
Theoretical Models to Explain PA and Create PA Interventions
Interventions for PA among Older Adults16
Motivation for PA for older people17
Summary of Chapter 2
Chapter 3 Methods 20
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria 20
Research design and Intervention
Procedures
Measures
Data Analysis
Data Storage25
Chapter 4 Results
Survey Results
Demographics
PA Level
Motivation for PA
QoL
Program Satisfaction

Focus Group Results	C
Theme 1: Facilitator for PA	1
Intrinsic Motivation	1
Family	1
Friends/Neighbors	2
MARTA Mobility Bus	3
Theme 2: Barriers of PA	3
Health Conditions	4
COVID Pandemic	1
Neighborhood context	5
Transportation in Atlanta	5
Increment weather	5
Theme 3: Program Evaluative Comments	5
General Evaluation	5
Socialization	7
Diversity and Inclusion	7
Program Flexibility	3
Impact on Eating Habits	3
Impact on Mental Health	Э
Summary of Chapter 4 39	Э
Chapter 5 Conclusions, Implications, and Recommendations	1
Summary of key results	1
Demographics and PA levels42	1
Baseline surveys and focus group findings: facilitators to PA	2
Baseline surveys and focus group findings: barriers for PA	5
After-program focus group findings47	7
Comparison between baseline survey and after-program survey	3
Evaluation of the "Positive Motion" program	Э
Strength and limitation	C
Recommendations for the "Positive Motion" program	2
Recommendations for older people living in Atlanta53	3

Suggestions for future research	
Conclusions	
References	
Appendices	
Baseline survey	
Demographic Questions	
Physical Activity Questions	
MPAM-R	
EQ-5D-3L	
Interview guide for baseline focus group	
Interview guide for after-program focus group	
Codebook	

Figure 1 Statistics related to PA	7
Figure 2 Type of Motivation based on Self-Determination Theory	. 15

Table 1 Demographic of Positive Motion Participants (n=16)	27
Table 2 PA Level of Participants	28
Table 3 MPAM-R	29
Table 4 EQ-5D-3L	29
Table 5 Thematic Analysis Results of Focus Group	30

## Acronym

CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention		
COVID	Coronavirus Disease		
IRB	Institutional Review Board		
MARTA	Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority		
MET	Metabolic Equivalent of Task		
MPAM-R	Motives for Physical Activities Measure – Revised		
MS	Multiple Sclerosis		
PA	Physical Activity		
QoL	Quality of Life		
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial		
SCT	Social Cognitive Theory		
SDOH	Social Determinants of Health		
SDT	Self-Determination Theory		
SEM	Socio-Ecological Model		
TADA	The Atlanta Dance Academy		
ТРВ	Theory of Planned Behavior		
TTM	Transtheoretical Model		

#### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

Today more than 1 in 7 Americans are 65 or older, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2022a). The number of Americans who are aging at the rate of the population of 65 or older was 15.2% in 2016 and will be 23.4% in 2060 (Vespa, 2018). Among older people, 80% have at least one chronic condition (Healthy aging team, 2021). These common chronic conditions include hypertension, high cholesterol, arthritis, ischemic/coronary heart diseases, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, heart failure, depression, Alzheimer's disease and dementia, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Healthy aging team, 2021). Physical activity (PA) is the main strategy for preventing and treating these diseases. However, many older people suffer from physical *inactivity*, including 26.9% among people aged 65-74 years and 35.3% among people aged 75 years or older (Watson et al., 2016).

The CDC defined PA as any bodily movement produced by the contraction of skeletal muscle that substantially increases energy expenditure (CDC, 2017b). According to the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, older adults are recommended to have at least 150 minutes a week of moderate-intensity and muscle-strengthening activities at least twice a week if their conditions are tolerated (United States Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.-a).

Even though PA is essential for older adults, motivation for PA is often challenging (O'Neil-Pirozzi et al., 2022). Older people's motivation for PA varies from person to person depending on their age, gender, and health conditions (Dacey et al., 2008; Stehr et al., 2021). The National Institute of Aging (2020) recommends walking with your coworkers, playing team

sports, and participating in a dance class to keep older people motivated for PA. This strategy is aimed at incorporating PA into social activities (National Institute on Aging, 2020). However, social determinants of health negatively influence older people's health and PA (Baer et al., 2016; Martins et al., 2021). For example, walkability is a significant factor for PA (Van Holle et al., 2014). Because of the complex impact of multiple factors, social determinants of PA are different by various cultural populations (Becerra et al., 2015). Atlanta is the most populous city located in the South and has a huge socioeconomic status discrepancy (Best Neighborhood, n.d.). Therefore, Atlanta has unique social determinants of PA, but little is known about the motivation for PA for older people in Atlanta.

Many intervention trials have been conducted to increase older adults' PA. These interventions have been diverse, from single-component exercises to multi-component trials (de Labra et al., 2015). These single-component exercises are different from each other, such as various aerobic, muscle, flexibility, or balance training (Galloza et al., 2017). In addition, there are few common features of programs or consistent program evaluation methods for PA programs for older adults; the program duration and intensity are diverse, and the outcome can be from physiology, physical function, cognitive function, to social aspects (Esmail et al., 2020; Kendrick et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2021).

The Atlanta Dance Academy (TADA) is a dance studio located in Atlanta. TADA aims to find the joy in movement with a fun, healthy, and collaborative energy for all, provide people with confidence and expression, true body connection, and the learning process of creative arts, and break down the barriers that are often present in more traditional schools of dance

education (TADA, n.d.). TADA launched a dance program for older people with the principal investigator in August 2022.

The thesis project is based on self-determination theory (SDT). SDT is a framework to address factors related to motivation and personality (Ryan & Deci, 2000). SDT defines multilevels of motivation: amotivation, extrinsic motivation, and intrinsic motivation. SDT suggests three essential needs that support intrinsic motivation: autonomy, competence, and relatedness. The thesis project will use SDT to understand older people's motivation for PA, especially the facilitators and barriers for the population living in Atlanta.

The thesis project will contribute to understanding how to encourage older adults in Atlanta to have more PA. The following are the research questions for this project.

## **Research questions**

- What are the facilitators and barriers to PA for older adults living in Atlanta participating in the program?
- What can improve the motivation for PA for older adults living in Atlanta?
- How can a community dance program contribute to the participants' motivation for PA?

### **Chapter 2 Literature Review**

The following chapter will focus on what has been known about physical activity (PA), older adults' motivation for PA, and social determinants of health (SDOH) for the older adult population as it relates to PA. The topics that will be discussed in this literature review chapter include older Americans in the United States, PA and its guidelines, inactivity for older adults in the United States and Georgia, benefits of PA for older adults, barriers to PA, social determinants of PA, theoretical models to explain PA and create PA interventions, interventions for PA among older adults, and motivation for PA for older people. Lastly, it will have a summary of Chapter 2.

#### Older Americans in the United States

Out of 328 million Americans, 54 million people (16.5%) were 65 or older in 2019, according to the Census (United States Census Bureau, 2019). The number is expected to increase to 81 million in 2040 and 95 million (about 25%) in 2060 (The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2022a). The rapidly aging population will create greater demands for healthcare and social security benefits because the ratio of working-age adults to older people will decrease from 3.5 in 2020 to 2.5 in 2060 (Vespa, 2018). The CDC offers guidance to meet health demands of aging populations, including supporting older people with a cognitive disability, helping caregivers, preventing disease, and early detection for preventable diseases (CDC, 2022a). Promoting PA is one of the essential recommendations (CDC, 2022a).

Georgia has an aging population. Out of 10.8 million people in Georgia, 1.6 million people (14.7%) were 65 or older in 2021 (Governor's office of planning and budget, n.d.; United

States Census Bureau, n.d.-b). It will increase to 2.7 million (21.7%) in 2040 and 3.4 million (24.2%) in 2060 (Governor's office of planning and budget, n.d.).

#### PA and its guidelines

The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans 2<sup>nd</sup> edition mentions that adults should have at least 150 minutes a week of moderate-intensity or 75 minutes a week of vigorousintensity aerobic PA and muscle-strengthening activities at least twice a week (United States Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.-a). On an absolute scale, energy expenditure is addressed using the metabolic equivalent of task (MET). MET is defined as the amount of consumed oxygen (Jetté et al., 1990). Sedentary behavior is less than or equal to 1.5 METs (United States Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.-b). Light-intensity, moderateintensity, and vigorous-intensity activity are less than 3.0, 3.0 to less than 6.0, and 6.0 or more METs, respectively. Moderate-intensity activities include walking briskly, playing doubles tennis, or raking the yard, while vigorous-intensity activities include jogging, running, carrying heavy groceries, or participating in a strenuous fitness class.

The guidelines above also indicate that the same components apply to older adults, but they do not need to follow the 150-minute rule when their fitness level or chronic conditions do not let them do so. However, they are expected to be as physically active as possible (United States Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.-a). Some experts suggest it is important and realistic to decrease sitting time and increase lower-intensity activity (Sparling et al., 2015). American College of Sports Medicine emphasized the importance of PA for older people in the position stand (Chodzko-Zajko et al., 2009). Moreover, the latest randomized controlled trial

(RCT) suggested that more than five times a week for more than 32 weeks interventions were more beneficial for older adults (Sun et al., 2021).

### Inactivity for Older Adults in the United States and Georgia

Although the guidelines advise older people to have at least 150 minutes a week of moderate-intensity PA and twice a week muscle-strengthening activities, the 2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System found that 26.9% of those aged 65–74 years and 35.3% of those aged 75 years or more had no PA outside of work (United States Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.-a; Watson et al., 2016). Moreover, only 23.1% of those aged 65 and older met this guideline in 2019 [Figure 1] (America's health rankings, n.d.-a).



Figure 1 Statistics related to PA

In Georgia, the PA rate was worse than the national average. According to the CDC

(2019), 24.1% of adults met the guidelines in Georgia in 2019 [Figure 1]. Although Georgia had a higher percentage of people who met the guidelines; in total, people in Georgia had less PA than the national average (America's health rankings, n.d.-b). In 2021, 34.4% of older Georgians reported physical *inactivity*, while the national average was 30.6% [Figure 1]. The rate was

similar in both men and women. The reasons have not have been clearly illustrated, but multiple factors can be related. Georgia has worse accessibility to parks (CDC, 2019). Although 46.4% of the United States population lived within a half-mile of a park, only 26.8% of the population in Georgia did in 2015 [Figure 1] (CDC, 2019)

The CDC (2017a) says that *inactivity* causes 1 in 10 premature deaths and 117 billion dollars per year in health care costs. Therefore, PA needs to be promoted more (Lavie et al., 2019).

## Benefits of PA for Older Adults

Numerous exercise interventions have been conducted, and multiple benefits of PA have been reported. At first, regular PA lowers the risk of all-cause mortality. PA also reduces various physical diseases, including cardiovascular disease, hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and cancers, and improves cognition, quality of life (QoL), and sleep (Piercy et al., 2018). These benefits can be applied to healthy older people and senior citizens with frailty (McPhee et al., 2016). The guidelines refer to many other benefits of PA, including less frequency of falls or less severity after the fall (Piercy et al., 2018). To achieve this goal, especially preventing the fall, older adults are advised to perform multi-component PA, including balance exercises in addition to aerobic and muscle-strengthening exercises, which adults in general should conduct.

More specifically, exercise interventions positively impacted older adults' physical health. An RCT showed that incorporating aerobic exercise into motivational interviews enhanced older people with multimorbidity cardiorespiratory fitness (Lo et al., 2020). Another

RCT suggested that dance training improved cardiovascular fitness compared to aerobic training (Esmail et al., 2020). Moreover, a systematic review determined that high-certainty evidence indicated that exercise interventions reduced falls for seniors (Sherrington et al., 2019); a meta-analysis showed that exercise programs reduced fall-related fractures (Wang et al., 2020). However, another review concluded that poor evidence suggested that exercise interventions could decrease the fear of falling for seniors (Kendrick et al., 2014).

Moreover, PA interventions can have more impact beyond physical health. A systematic review with the meta-analysis found that combining aerobic and muscle training contributed to improving cognitive function (Northey et al., 2018). In addition, a meta-analysis found that exercise interventions improved depression symptoms (Schuch et al., 2016). Furthermore, an RCT showed virtual exercise programs reduced loneliness during the coronavirus disease (COVID) pandemic (Gilbody et al., 2021). Another systematic review suggested that PA interventions slowed the decrease in QoL compared to the lecture-based health education groups (Groessl et al., 2019).

#### **Barriers to PA**

Regardless of these benefits, there are various barriers to PA for older people (Franco et al., 2015). The obstacles vary from individual unawareness to the importance of PA to the societal system (Franco et al., 2015). Then, the Socio-Ecological Model (SEM) could be beneficial to order a wide range of these obstacles (Bammann et al., 2021). The SEM was developed to illustrate an ecology of human development (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The SEM has multiple

versions, but the CDC uses a four-level SEM: individual, relationship, community, and societal (CDC, 2022b).

Franco's systematic review of older people's recognition of PA identified six themes: social influences, physical limitations, competing priorities, access difficulties, personal benefits of PA, and motivation and beliefs (Franco et al., 2015). The four themes out of six - physical limitations, competing priorities, personal benefits of PA, and motivation and beliefs - can be classified as an individual level factor in the four-level SEM. The social influences can be assigned to a relationship and community level factor. People's behavior, including their families, friends as well as the PA classes, can influence a person's PA. Finally, the access difficulties are related to a societal level factor in the SEM. The access difficulties include environmental barriers and affordability. Environmental barriers have a wide variety of causes like weather, transportation, safety, programs, or facilities.

#### Social Determinants of PA

Additional considerations are social determinants of health (SDOH). SDOH are defined as the conditions in the environments where people are born, live, learn, work, play, worship, and age that affect a wide range of health, functioning, and QoL outcomes and risks (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, n.d.). SDOH can have 5 domains: economic stability, education access and quality, health care access and quality, neighborhood and built environment, and social and community context (Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, n.d.). The statistics in Georgia indicated that PA was related to SDOH. Educational and economics are important factors (Cleland et al., 2012; Rawal et al., 2020). First, education levels are associated with PA. In Georgia in 2021, the ratio of people with less than high school, high school/general educational development test, some post-high school, and college graduate, who had physical *inactivity* were 42.5, 34.3, 23.0, 12.7%, respectively (America's health rankings, n.d.-b). Next, income levels are related to PA too. In Georgia in 2021, the ratio with income of less than \$25,000, \$25,000 to less than \$50,000, \$50,000 to less than \$75,000, \$75,000 or more, who had physical *inactivity* were 39.4, 27.3, 22.4, 12.5%, respectively (America's health rankings, n.d.-b).

Other SDOHs are also associated with PA. Martins (2021) described multiple factors related to physical *inactivity*, such as low socioeconomic status, level of knowledge of PA, using public transportation, or being in the oldest age group. Lower socioeconomic status can be related to a lack of PA-related resources and unequal opportunities (Devereux-Fitzgerald et al., 2021).

From a neighborhood and built environment perspective, public transportation could be related to increased PA (Laverty et al., 2018). Atlanta was tied as one of the second longest commute time for public transportation users among the 20 largest cities in the United States (Geotab, n.d.). Even for car users, Atlanta was ranked fifth (Geotab, n.d.). Senior drivers had more PA than senior non-drivers (Amagasa et al., 2018). Also, despite inadequate evidence, infrastructure interventions are recommended with additional interventions (Devereux-Fitzgerald et al., 2021).

Another SDOH neighborhood and built factor is walkability. Better walkability is connected to a higher amount of walking for older people (Van Holle et al., 2014). Then, it is positively associated with PA (Colley et al., 2019); it is also related to a higher possibility of reaching 100 years old (Bhardwaj et al., 2020). However, walkability is not the only determining factor, and more profound context, including history and geography, should be assessed because multiple factors are linked in a complicated way (Braveman & Gottlieb, 2014).

Especially for people with disabilities, walkability and transportation could be more difficult (Bezyak et al., 2020). Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority (MARTA) is a public transportation agency in Metro Atlanta (MARTA, n.d.-a). Even though MARTA is designed to accommodate people with disabilities, MARTA Mobility services are available for people whose disabilities make it harder to use MARTA fixed services (MARTA, n.d.-b). MARTA sometimes provides people with door-to-door services when requested (MARTA, n.d.-b).

The walkability/transportation barriers are so diverse and complicated that each community or group of people has its own barrier (Becerra et al., 2015). One study suggested ethnic minorities were likely to suffer from insufficient institutions or access to support, resulting in inadequate PA (Seefeldt et al., 2002). On the other hand, another research mentioned that no racial difference was observed among prostate cancer patients, but the stage of the diseases was more influential to the amount of PA (Halbert et al., 2021). Motivation is an essential component of engaging in PA for the population who do not have social determinants of PA (Bernard et al., 2020).

A lack of social support is related to the social and communal determinant of PA. Among older people in England, isolated people had longer sedentary time (Schrempft et al., 2019). In Canada, older adults who do not live alone had more PA (Chad et al., 2005). A systematic review supports that social support, especially from family, is more related to PA (Lindsay Smith et al., 2017). Quantitative research on older people in the Czech Republic showed that selfefficacy and social support were related to self-regulation, which is associated with PA (Mudrak et al., 2017). In addition, a group-based intervention worked better to increase PA than personal intervention (Cleland et al., 2012).

Even though the factors are not simply connected, it is vital to educate older people about the benefits of PA and make PA opportunities more accessible (Franco et al., 2015).

#### Theoretical Models to Explain PA and Create PA Interventions

The PA for older people needs to be assessed with theory because the intervention with theory is more effective (Muellmann et al., 2018). However, using one theory could be more helpful than using more than one theory, and there is no difference in usefulness between each theory (Gourlan et al., 2016). The motivation for PA is associated with constructs of the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), Transtheoretical Model (TTM), and Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) (Pinto & Ciccolo, 2011). A systematic review of TPB showed that goal setting, action planning, and credible source are frequently used techniques to change behaviors (Senkowski et al., 2019). A dimension of Stages of Change in TTM can be related to the level of PA for older adults (Jiménez-Zazo et al., 2020). A systematic review demonstrated that SCT, especially the components of self-efficacy and goals, helps explain PA (Young et al., 2014). In addition, a

systematic review of self-determination theory (SDT) explains that intrinsic motivation for PA is related to more positive exercise participation (Teixeira et al., 2012). The SEM helped explore relevant themes about older people's thoughts about walking (Leung et al., 2021). Qiao et al. (2021) developed a measurement to assess beliefs in PA among prefrail and frail older people based on Health Belief Model and TPB. Furthermore, the PRECEDE-PROCEED Model has been used to develop multi-level interventions (Bammann et al., 2021).

The theoretical framework for this thesis project was SDT. The theory is an approach to human motivation and personality (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The theory has been utilized in many situations, including health, sport, education, and work (University of Rochester medical center, n.d.).

In SDT, motivation is classified into three types: amotivation, extrinsic motivation, and intrinsic motivation [Figure 2] (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Intrinsic motivation encourages people to do some activities due to their inherent satisfaction (Deci & Ryan, 2013). In extrinsic motivation, people do the activities to get results different from the activities themselves, but extrinsic motivation can have various types based on the degree of autonomy (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Extrinsic motivation includes four types of regulation. The four types are between amotivation and intrinsic motivation and are 1) ordered external regulation, 2) introjected regulation, 3) identified regulation, and 4) integrated regulation [Figure 2]. External regulation is most similar to amotivation, and integrated regulation is most similar to intrinsic regulation. With external regulation, people conduct behaviors to obtain a necessity externally. Introjected regulation indicates a mainly external motivation related to an individual's feeling, such as guilt, anxiety,

or ego. Identified regulation is a more self-determined form of motivation, and individuals take the behavior as important. Integrated regulation is the most self-governing motivation with expectations for the outcome for the behavior. The classification was stated in one of six subtheories, organismic integration theory, within SDT.

Figure 2 Type of Motivation based on Self-Determination Theory



Also, SDT explains that three innate psychological needs, which are autonomy, competence, and relatedness, will foster people's motivation and participation for activities. Autonomy is the feeling an individual voluntarily chooses something (University of Rochester medical center, n.d.). Next, competence is the feeling an individual is improving something. In addition, relatedness is the feeling a person is connected to someone or groups. Especially autonomy and competence will stimulate intrinsic motivation (Frederick & Ryan, 1995). Relatedness is also somewhat important for intrinsic motivation to secure the base (Ryan & Grolnick, 1986). It was mentioned in another among six sub-theories, cognitive evaluation theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000). SDT is appropriate for illustrating PA motivation and behavior (Hagger & Chatzisarantis, 2008; Teixeira et al., 2012).

## Interventions for PA among Older Adults

Encouragement and intervention for PA are critical for older people. Older people tend to sit longer (be sedentary), so it is necessary to assist them in participating in some activities with others (Palmer et al., 2019). In addition, better physical ability could lead to better cognitive function for older people (Arrieta et al., 2018). Therefore, interventions to encourage older people to have more PA have to be developed and implemented (Knott et al., 2021).

Many intervention trials have been conducted, but the ideal program remains unclear (de Labra et al., 2015). This de Labra et al. systematic review included nine RCTs. Six were multicomponent interventions, including aerobic and muscle training. Two of the six included progressive resistance training, and the other four involved functional walking, balance exercises, or circuit training. The other three were single component interventions, mainly focused on muscle training. These nine RCTs had diverse measurement methods from effect on falls, mobility or functional ability, muscle strength, to body composition. Overall, they showed positive results, but each study had a variant effect size.

The guidelines recommend combining aerobic and muscle-strengthening exercises, including balance exercises based on the research (United States Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.-a). A new RCT had combined physical and cognitive training to improve the gait speed, although it did not significantly improve the gait speed compared to the physical training alone (Sipilä et al., 2021).

A recent RCT compared the efficacy of group-based exercise programs: similar age same gender group, similar age mixed gender group, and mixed age mixed gender group as a

control (Beauchamp et al., 2018). The first two groups had a higher attendance rate for the intervention than the control group. It suggested that the group should be age-targeted.

Another style of PA intervention for older adults is dance. The review showed that dance interventions generally improved physical and cognitive abilities and had high participation rates (Hwang & Braun, 2015; Liu et al., 2021). The benefit of dance was also indicated for the population with mobility disabilities (McNeely et al., 2015; Meng et al., 2020). Older adults recognized dance as fun activities and enjoyed socialization through dance (Bungay et al., 2022). The style of dance did not affect significant impact in older people (Hwang & Braun, 2015). Dance participation is social and cultural activity and can be one of SDOH (Stewart & Irons, 2018). Dance's impact on wellbeing has not been researched in some neglected communities (Sheppard & Broughton, 2020). In Atlanta, Tango intervention was conducted, and socialization was detected as participants' motivation regardless of participants' mobility levels (Hackney et al., 2013; Zafar et al., 2017).

These interventions' results suggest that PA can be beneficial regardless of the formats. However, more research needs to be conducted to ascertain specific suggestions for each older adult and determine their effects.

## Motivation for PA for older people

Little research about the motivation for PA has been conducted for older people, although the population is growing (Spiteri et al., 2019). An RCT indicated that older people need more reasons than their health benefits when they start or continue their behaviors (Parra et al., 2019). Different generations have different motivations for PA, and the factors

change as people age chronologically. In addition, the factors vary based on the situation for PA, such as leisure and transport (Bauman et al., 2012). In adolescents, an exercise-supportive environment and positive recognition for PA will increase their PA (Palmer et al., 2020). In younger adults, better body image and health contribute to more PA (Ashton et al., 2017).

Older adults' motivation varies based on age, gender, or health conditions (Dacey et al., 2008; Stehr et al., 2021). Six factors to affect motivation were detected, including health and fitness, social/emotional benefits, weight management, stress management, enjoyment, and appearance; enjoyment was related to more PA level and connected socialization and music (Dacey et al., 2008). For people living in senior living facilities, some factors, such as the quality and place of the PA program, staff limitations, physical health and activities of daily living, perception of PA, perception of health status, and interest in PA and community involvement, specifically impact the motivation for PA (Bender et al., 2021; Vos et al., 2019). Previous qualitative research has found other perspectives of older adults to exercise interventions. Research on patients with myeloid neoplasms discovered that the patients perceived that walking and resistance exercises were feasible and that the patients valued preserving existing physical functions (Loh et al., 2021). Older people with visual impairment had similar facilitators and barriers to exercise interventions to people without visual impairment (de Jong et al., 2021). Also, older adults with post-traumatic stress disorder indicated the importance of shared experiences with other participants as a facilitator of participation to exercise interventions (Browne et al., 2021). Another research for pre-frail and frail older adults pointed out the

difficulty of getting information about exercise opportunities and the importance of exercise recommendations from their general practitioners (Jadczak et al., 2018).

In general, intrinsic motivation is essential for older people (Stehr et al., 2021). The National Institute of Aging suggests several tips for older adults to start and continue their PA. One of them is "make exercise a social activity." As one example, the National Institute of Aging recommends participating in a dance class to keep older people motivated for PA (National Institute on Aging, 2020). Dance is one of the most efficient methods to encourage older people to have more PA (Hwang & Braun, 2015). Dance improves functional capacity, cognitive functions, and QoL (Gronek et al., 2021; Rodríguez & Paris-Garcia, 2022; Rudolph et al., 2018). In addition, dance improves social participation, mood, and self-confidence, which could lead to sustainable lifetime engagement because people perceive the dance as fun (Lakes et al., 2016; Merom et al., 2013). Then, strict classes could decrease the participants' motivation and participation (Rudolph et al., 2018).

## Summary of Chapter 2

The literature review found that PA activity among older adults in Georgia is suboptimal. Although PA benefits the population in various aspects, barriers, including SDOH, still exist. To overcome the barriers, there are many types of interventions for older adults to increase PA with varying results. Dance intervention is as beneficial as other kinds of PA interventions and can encourage participants on socialization. SDT helps demonstrate individual's motivation for PA. Each group has a different motivation for PA, but intrinsic motivation is the key. In Atlanta, how dance intervention impacts on older people in terms of SDOH is still unknown.

## **Chapter 3 Methods**

This chapter will describe the research methods for the project. It will describe inclusion and exclusion criteria, research design and intervention, procedures, measures, data analysis, and data storage.

This thesis project was a formative evaluation of motivation for dance as physical activity (PA) for older people and included surveys and focus groups. The principal investigator (thesis student) collaborated with The Atlanta Dance Academy (TADA). TADA and the principal investigator (ST) launched a 10-week dance program for older adults in August 2022, named "Positive Motion." The principal investigator asked the dance program participants some questions about the motivation for PA and the change in their recognition of PA through the dance program. The Institutional Review Board (IRB) review and approval were obtained from Emory IRB. All research-related recruitment materials underwent review by the IRB. Investigators promptly informed the IRB of protocol. All personnel involved in the study had the appropriate IRB training and certification before the study started.

#### Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The research participants were recruited from the dance program "Positive Motion" participants. The inclusion criteria included individuals who are: 1) 50-year-olds or older, 2) residents in greater Atlanta, and 3) people who can attend a 45-minute weekly dance program. The exclusion criteria included those individuals who had: 1) severe physical disability thus limiting participation in a weekly 45-minute dance program, 2) severe cognitive disability who could not understand the contents of the research or complete the assessments, and 3)

unstable physical problems that caused a dance instructor or researcher to withdraw their participation.

#### Research design and Intervention

The study design was a pre-post-test evaluation combined with focus groups. The participants completed the surveys and attended focus groups twice. TADA had ten 45-minute weekly dance classes. Volunteer dance instructors taught weekly dance classes. The program included a 5-minute warm-up and a 5-minute cool-down. The classes always used music and encouraged the dance participants to feel the music, stretch, and move their bodies. The program is 2.0-3.5 Metabolic Equivalent of Task (METs) based on the participants' posture on dancing, sitting or standing. The dance program was provided free of charge. TADA is located in a commercial shopping center which includes a supermarket, several restaurants, and a movie theater, in Atlanta. The participants had available free parking. In addition, several bus stops were accessible.

#### Procedures

The research participants completed a baseline survey and attended a focus group between the first dance program and the third dance session as baseline data collection. Then, they completed an after-program survey and focus group after the tenth dance session as an after-program data collection.

The researchers or employees at TADA asked dance program participants to participate in the research. When a prospective participant was interested in participating in research, the

principal investigator gave more detailed explanations based on the consent document reviewed by IRB. The consent was obtained in a written format.

The principal investigator and another research member (KJ) performed the survey and focus group. They gave the participants pens and paper for the survey. In the focus group, the principal investigator and research staff (KJ) invited all the participants to talk. The baseline survey took 10-50 minutes. The baseline focus group took 14-63 minutes. The after-program survey took 5-30 minutes. The after-program focus group took 31-48 minutes. All the focus groups were recorded with a voice recorder after the primary investigator got additional verbal permission to record from the research participants.

The researchers conducted baseline and after-program surveys and focus groups at TADA or a senior living facility, some participants' residences or workplaces. The researchers provided the research participants with water and refreshments when they had surveys and focus groups. The researchers also gave a \$50 Kroger gift card to a participant when they finished the baseline and after-program surveys and focus groups and eight or more out of 10 dance sessions.

#### Measures

The baseline survey included a survey about the participants' demographic data, PA level, Motives for Physical Activities Measure – Revised (MPAM-R) for motives for PA, and EQ-5D-3L for quality of life (QoL). Demographic questions included age, gender, race/ethnicity, education level, people living together, housing conditions, marital status, household income,

transportation to TADA, height, weight, and chronic conditions. PA level asked about recognition of a level of their PA and genres, frequency, and amount of their PA.

The MPAM-R is a scale to evaluate reasons for participation in PA (Center for selfdetermination theory, n.d.). It has 30 questions of 7 Likert (1-7) scales. These questions assess five motivations for PA: fitness, appearance, competence, social, and enjoyment. MPAM-R was developed based on SDT and validated (Ryan et al., 1997). Higher scores mean applicable motivation for PA.

EQ-5D-3L is a non-disease-specific measurement to describe and value health states, which is health-related QoL (EuroQol Group, 1990). EQ-5D-3L consists of 2 components (EuroQol Office, 2022). One is five questions of 3 Likert (1-3) scales: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. In this part, lower scores mean better status. The other is a visual analog scale (0-100) about self-rated health. In this part, higher scores indicate better status. EQ-5D-3L was developed by EuroQol Group (EuroQol Group, 1990; Shaw et al., 2005).

The baseline semi-structured focus group included eight questions about the facilitators and barriers to PA and the impact of their living conditions on PA.

The after-program survey included MPAM-R, EQ-5D-3L, and a program satisfaction question. The program satisfaction question was a 5-Likert (very satisfied, satisfied, somewhat, dissatisfied, and very dissatisfied) scale question about the satisfaction of the 10-week dance program. A higher score means higher satisfaction.

The after-program semi-structured focus group included seven questions about the program's impact on their perception of PA and the motivation change throughout the program.

The participants were asked to complete the surveys using paper and pens. The researchers helped the participants fill out the surveys, if needed. The researchers facilitated semi-structured focus groups about PA and barriers/facilitators to staying physically active. The researchers asked the participants to let the researchers audio-record, document, and summarize all of the comments.

#### Data Analysis

The researchers analyzed the baseline and after-program surveys with SAS software version 9.4. Data was entered into Excel and run in SAS. Descriptive statistics were conducted. For reference, Mann Whitney U tests were conducted to compare the motivation for PA and QoL between the baseline and after-program data. For sub-analysis, Mann Whitney U tests were conducted to compare the demographic data, PA level, motivation for PA, and QoL between people who did not finish the program (the *drop* group) and people who finished the program (the *retention* group). Significance level was set to p<0.05.

The focus groups discussions were audio-recorded. The primary investigator transcribed audio-recordings into Word documents. A codebook was developed by main questions and answers. The primary investigator read and coded qualitative focus group data and summarized it into themes using the transcripts of the recordings. The primary investigator used MAXQDA 2022 for the coding and analysis. The thematic analysis summarized key themes. Deductive and

inductive thematic analysis was done (Hennink et al., 2020). Deductive coding was based on the questions in the interview guide. Inductive coding was based on the themes the participants brought. The recordings will be destroyed one year after transcription.

#### Data Storage

Participant demographic, surveys, and focus group data were collected and stored on password-protected research drives for one year at the Rollins School of Public Health. The researchers maintained the paper surveys in a locked cabinet or office at Rollins School of Public Health or were secured online with a password. Survey data were also stored on password-protected research network drives at Rollins.

## **Chapter 4 Results**

This chapter will cover the survey results and the focus group results. The survey results include demographics, physical activity (PA) level, motivation for PA, quality of life (QoL), and program satisfaction. Also, the focus group results include three themes, facilitator for PA, barriers of PA, and program evaluative feedback.

For the research, 16 people agreed on participation in the "Positive Motion" program. Out of 16 people, all completed the baseline survey, and 15 participants participated in the focus group. After 10-week program, eight people (we can call them *retention* group) participated in the after-program survey and focus group. The other 8 people (we can call them *drop* group) dropped out of the dance program. The principal investigator and another researcher (KJ) tried to follow up the drop group, but none of them came back for the afterprogram survey and focus group.

#### Survey Results

## Demographics

The demographics of all the participants at baseline are shown in Table 1. Most participants were female (n=13, 81.3%) and African American (n=11, 68.8%). The mean age was  $68.7 \pm 10.3$  ( $64.1 \pm 7.2$  in the drop group,  $72.8 \pm 11.3$  in the retention group; not statistically significant), and the mean body mass index was  $28.3 \pm 6.8$ . Out of 16 participants, nine people (56.3%) came to The Atlanta Dance Academy (TADA) by car, and the other seven people (43.8%), including four residents (25.0%) and three employees (18.8%) of a senior living facility, came by the facility bus.

		Mean ± Standard Deviation
Age		68.7 ± 10.3
Height [cm]		165.2 ± 10.0
Weight [kg]		77.4 ± 20.4
Body Mass Index		28.3 ± 6.8
		Number (%)
Gender	Female	13 (81.3%)
	Male	2 (12.5%)
	Non binary	0
	Other	0
	No Answer	1 (6.3%)
Race/Ethnicity	white	2 (12.5%)
	Black/African American	11 (68.8%)
	Hispanic	0
	Asian	0
	Native American	0
	Other	1 (6.3%)
	No Answer	1 (6.3%)
Education	Not Graduated from High School	0
	Graduated from High School	5 (31.3%)
	Graduated from Undergraduate or	8 (50.0%)
	Professional School	
	Higher	2 (12.5%)
	No Answer	1 (6.3%)
Living situation	Live Alone	4 (25.0%)
	Live with One Person	4 (25.0%)
	Live with Two People	1 (6.3%)
	Live with Four People	1 (6.3%)
	Live in a Senior Living Facility	4 (25.0%)
	No Answer	2 (12.5%)
Travel to TADA	By Car	9 (56.3%)
	By Senior Living Facility Bus	7 (43.8%)

Table 1 Demographic of Positive Motion Participants (n=16)

Note: TADA: The Atlanta Dance Academy.

## PA Level

The participants' self-reported level of PA is shown in Table 2. Out of 16 participants, 9
participants (56.3%) were satisfactorily or very physically active. All four participants who answered "very physically active" dropped out of the dance program. All 16 participants mentioned they were doing something out of sitting in a day. Out of them, 9 participants (56.3%) mentioned walking as their primary PA; 5 people (31.3%) described walking as their secondary PA. Regarding the primary PA, 14 participants (87.5%) did their primary PA more than 3 times a week; 11 participants (68.8%) did it for an hour or longer. Out of 16 people, 13 people (81.3%) practiced muscle training once a week or more often.

Table 2 PA L	evel of F	Participants
--------------	-----------	--------------

	Number (%)		
	All	Drop	Retention
Not Sufficiently Active	1 (6.3%)	0	1 (12.5%)
Some Physically Active	6 (37.5%)	3 (37.5%)	3 (37.5%)
Satisfactorily Physically Active	5 (31.3%)	1 (12.5%)	4 (50.0%)
Very Physically Active	4 (25.0%)	4 (50.0%)	0

#### **Motivation for PA**

We explored motives for PA and QoL before and after the program. The result of Motives for Physical Activities Measure – Revised (MPAM-R) is shown in Table 3. The mean at baseline was  $5.5 \pm 1.4$  and the after-program was  $5.8 \pm 1.3$ . The participants had the highest score (baseline  $5.9 \pm 1.5$ , after-program  $6.5 \pm 0.5$ ) in fitness category, the second highest score (baseline  $5.8 \pm 1.3$ , after-program  $6.1 \pm 1.4$ ) in interest/enjoyment category and the lowest score (baseline  $4.9 \pm 1.7$ , after-program  $5.0 \pm 1.7$ ) in social category. In the social category, the lower scores among 15 group participants (one participant's score was missing) was 1.6 (a participant who dropped out of the program) and 2.2 (a participant who retained). There was no significant score difference between baseline and after-program survey in any

## classifications.

## Table 3 MPAM-R

	Baseline	Post-program
	(Mean ± Standard Deviation)	(Mean ± Standard Deviation)
Total	5.5 ± 1.4	5.8 ± 1.3
Interest/Enjoyment	5.8 ± 1.3	$6.1 \pm 1.4$
Competence	5.7 ± 1.4	5.6 ± 1.5
Appearance	5.2 ± 1.4	5.5 ± 1.1
Fitness	5.9 ± 1.5	6.5 ± 0.5
Social	4.9 ± 1.7	5.0 ± 1.7

Note: Each question is 1-7 Likert scale. The higher scale means the reason that applies for a participant.

## QoL

The result of EQ-5D-3L is shown in Table 4. The participants had the highest score (baseline 1.6 ± 0.7, after-program 2.0 ± 0.8) in pain/discomfort category and the lower score (baseline 1.1 ± 0.3, after-program 1.3 ± 0.5 in self-care and baseline 1.2 ± 0.4, after-program 1.1 ± 0.4 in anxiety/depression category.) There was no significant difference between baseline score and after-program score in any category. The mean score of today's QoL decreased from 74.6 ± 22.8 at baseline survey to  $60.0 \pm 17.7$  at after-program survey. In the baseline score, the mean score of today's QoL was 84.8 ± 17.5 and  $64.4 \pm 24.0$  for the drop group and the retention group, respectively, which was statistically significant different (Z=2.06, p = 0.04).

## Table 4 EQ-5D-3L

	Baseline	Post-program
	(Mean ± Standard Deviation)	(Mean ± Standard Deviation)
Mobility	$1.6 \pm 0.5$	$1.5 \pm 0.5$
Self-care	$1.1 \pm 0.3$	1.3 ± 0.5
Usual activity	$1.4 \pm 0.5$	$1.6 \pm 0.5$
Pain/Discomfort	$1.6 \pm 0.7$	$2.0 \pm 0.8$
Anxiety/Depression	$1.2 \pm 0.4$	$1.1 \pm 0.4$

Today's QoL 74.6 ± 22.8 60.0 ± 17.7
-------------------------------------

Note: QoL: Quality of Life. Mobility, self-care, usual activity, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression is 1-3 Likert scale. The higher scale means the problem applies to a participant. Today's QoL is 0-100 Likert scale. The higher scale means a better QoL.

# **Program Satisfaction**

Out of 8 participants at the after-program survey, 6 (75.0%) and 2 (25.0%) participants

were very satisfied and satisfied with the "Positive Motion" program, respectively.

# Focus Group Results

The key findings of thematic analysis of focus groups are shown in Table 5. The three

themes were identified deductively: 1) facilitator for PA, 2) barriers of PA, and 3) program

evaluative feedback.

Table 5 Ti	hematic .	Analysis	Results	of	Focus	Group
------------	-----------	----------	---------	----	-------	-------

Theme	Sub-theme	
Facilitator for PA	Intrinsic motivation	
	Social support	Family, Friends/Neighbors
	Transportation	MARTA Mobility Bus
Barriers of PA	Health conditions	Health conditions, COVID pandemic
	SDOH	Neighborhood context, Transportation in
		Atlanta, Increment weather
Program evaluative	General evaluation	
comments		
	Program	Socialization, Diversity and inclusion, Program
	characteristics	flexibility
	Program Impact	Impact on eating habits, Impact on mental
		health

Note: COVID: Coronavirus Disease. MARTA: Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority. SDOH: Social Determinants of Health.

## Theme 1: Facilitator for PA

The key facilitators to PA were intrinsic motivation, family, friends/neighbors, and Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority (MARTA) Mobility Bus. Family and friends/neighbors are grouped into social support; MARTA Mobility Bus is a transportation. Both groups are classified as social determinants of health (SDOH).

First, some participants expressed their intrinsic motivation.

## Intrinsic Motivation

They participated in the program because they liked dancing.

"I wanna go dancing privately once a week. That's my ultimate goal."

"I just love to dance."

"We didn't know what to explain this (our motivation). But after we got there (TADA) and found out what it (the 'Positive Motion' program) was about, it became interesting."

Second, social support was identified as a key facilitator for PA. It includes family and friends/neighbors.

## Family

Family can mainly be a facilitator for PA for example when a person takes care of their children/grandchildren.

"My grandchildren. They keep moving me."

Also, the participants discussed that family was supportive when they had safety issues

in their neighborhood and helped them walk outside.

"I used to hike a lot of more. I don't hike as much because of the safety issues. ... my husband will go with me."

A family member could be a facilitator for PA if they served as a bad role model, who did not do many PAs and got sick.

"She (my mother) needs help at the time. She was in good health, she does (did) anything, but she cannot (could not) anymore (because of her illness). You have to do (I had to take care of her) everything for her. I wonder why it's like that. I think I don't wanna be like that. I have to keep moving and moving."

### Friends/Neighbors

Interaction with friends or neighbors was also a good facilitator for PA. Having time with friends was a good reason to jointly participate in PA.

*"Just me, my neighbor, or walk. That's it. Today we go shopping in IKEA because she's never been to IKEA, so I told her, I said, well, why don't we go to IKEA, for me, that's the walk."* 

Walking in the neighborhood as PA was a facilitator because people reported having interactions with neighbors.

"When I walk in my neighborhood ... And I walk, sometime people say 'Oh, Hi!'"

There is no clear difference as a facilitator for PA between family and friends.

"I called her (my sister), when I was having a heart attack. ... My sister was on vacation

with her husband. ... She (my friend) stayed with me the whole time (in the hospital). ... (In general,) We all need that special someone who you know is gonna come to your rescue. And it's not always your family. ... My first trip to Italy, it was with her (the friend) and her family, because they were Italian, and she said, 'Come with us to my cousin's wedding.'"

Next, transportation was detected as another key facilitator for PA. More specifically, MARTA Mobility Bus was mentioned.

#### MARTA Mobility Bus

A senior living facility residents and employees came to TADA with their bus. However, one day it broke down and became unavailable. They began to use MARTA Mobility Bus while they could not use their bus. MARTA Mobility Bus delivered the residents and the employers from the senior living facility to TADA and prevented them from dropping from the "Positive Motion" program.

"When we, you know, have the issue with our van, ... I said, 'Well, we have to find another way to get there (TADA.)' You know, and so that's when we started utilizing MARTA services. ... They (other senior living facility) could utilize their (MARTA Mobility) service (to join the dance program.)"

## Theme 2: Barriers of PA

We explored barriers to PA. The main themes consisted of health conditions, Coronavirus Disease (COVID) pandemic, and SDOH area such as neighborhood context, transportation in Atlanta, and increment weather.

#### **Health Conditions**

Personal health conditions negatively affect their PA. Sometimes, health conditions directly affected participants' ability to walk.

*"It's my health. I'm diabetic, and I have a heart disease, and I have MS (multiple sclerosis). ... My body doesn't want doing anything. It hurts. And I cannot walk properly."* 

"My physical disability. ... Getting in my way, pain issues. Ambulatory issues."

Health conditions could indirectly limit PA because people had to stay inside.

"It's very difficult to move. Seems like my body gets inflamed ... because I have a lupus, the inflammation in my body. ... when I have the active lupus, the inflammation, then I have to be careful. ... I don't walk outside because so many allergies. So I usually walk. ... once I had allergies, I had to do indoors."

#### **COVID** Pandemic

During the COVID pandemic, people reduced their PA.

"Since the COVID started out, I stopped exercising. ... So fear of COVID exposure."

However, some people are trying to increase their PA now as they used to do before the pandemic.

"I have really gone backwards in my ability to move, and cause basically I had popped down movement two years since the COVID popped up in. I was like before I was much more than what I was able to do now, so, I'm motivated to get back to, baby steps, trying to increase my movement."

## Neighborhood context

The safety issue in the neighborhood seriously damaged walkability.

A male participant said, "Women no longer walk in my neighborhood because there's been since the people trying to abduct them. It's very sad. We have a security patrol around. That doesn't bother me to be doing it. ... yeah, it's just some of my friends yeah, yeah need someone to walk with to feel it is safe."

## Transportation in Atlanta

Walkability is not well guaranteed; public transportation is not still useful because of unstable operation of MARTA bus regular operations.

"I don't know how often the bus comes, and I have no clue where it goes."

When people cannot walk safely or use public transportation, how about cars? Atlanta residents suffer from terrible traffic.

"Depending on the traffic, you never know when you're trying to get here."

The residents in Atlanta may not have easier methods to leave their houses with walkable communities. Many still rely on cars as their only option.

"I drive."

#### Increment weather

Participants mentioned that increment weather limited peoples' PA, such as too hot or

cold temperatures or rain.

"I cannot handle the cold. When it's raining, it's (affected) all our joints."

"I don't want to be cold. I don't wanna have anything to do with cold. My hands hurt. My toes hurt."

At the same time, people were trying to overcome the barriers somehow.

"But if I have to go out, if I have to go to the supermarket to pick up something, I will go, and I'll just go to the supermarket (by car) that has a covering so that I don't get wet."

*"If it's over 94 (F), I will go to the gym, where it's air conditioning. ... So it didn't limit the activity. It change(s) the menu."* 

## Theme 3: Program Evaluative Comments

We also elicited comments or feedback about the program. Overall, the comments were positive. The comments included: general evaluation, socialization, diversity and inclusion, program flexibility, impact on eating habits, and impact on mental health.

## **General Evaluation**

In general, the "Positive Motion" program had a good review.

"I thought it was a good form of exercise."

"I thought it was excellent. ... It's a good community program."

"You (the interviewer) can't stop the class, or they (TADA) can't stop the class."

During a focus group, a participant showed her dance she learned and enjoyed through the dance classes with the song "Macarena."

"Hand, Hand, Shoulder, Shoulder, Head, Head, Back, Back, Hip, Hip, Shake it up!"

However, the only improvement point mentioned in the focus group was monotony of the program.

"For the most part, I like it. I enjoy it a lot, but I think we need more of variety, I need more variety of things to do."

## Socialization

One reason the participants like the program was socialization. Meeting other participants motivated the participants to come back to the class every week.

"That was my first reason for coming was so that I can get out the house and meet people, since I'm new to Atlanta. ... I'm looking forward to seeing everybody every Monday."

"I mingled in new people and I've been happy then."

#### Diversity and Inclusion

The participants have different levels of PA. Some people came by wheelchair, some walked with canes, and others walked alone. The diversity made the participants feel more inclusive.

A participant who walked with a handcart for elderly said, "The different variety of

mobility in the class is helpful for me, because I don't feel so pressured to perform. ... I think it's a kind of good thing we have different levels there. Everybody not really performing a very high level."

The senior living facility residents mainly used wheelchairs. A senior living facility employee said, *"I think it's really nice how everyone, has embraced us (the senior living facility residents and employees). You know, and getting to, you know, meet the other people in the group, you know, it's a lot of fun."* 

## Program Flexibility

The freedom or flexibility of the program is a good part for people with disabilities.

"We're kinda like allowed to be at our own level. So, I feel comfortable that way."

"I thought it was a good form of exercise because when you can't stand up and dance when you sit down, and move your body."

## Impact on Eating Habits

The program focuses only on dances, but the participants positively impacted their eating habits.

A person whose BMI was optimum range stated, "(On) Mondays (when we have classes), I have the biggest dinner on the whole week ... because I'm like super hungry when I leave here (TADA)."

On the other hand, a person whose BMI was class III obesity (more than 40) said, "I

understand when you work out, you keep burning fat and calories, so I guess it does positively affect. ... When I'm active, I eat less. Sitting around and doing nothing, I eat more; so I think it positively affect(s)."

#### Impact on Mental Health

The program improved the participants' mental health. The program gives the participants confidence and socialization opportunities.

"Well, I've got a problem, myself to do something beneficial to my health. I'm bragging it to my family; I'm back working it again! So, you know... So it helped my self-esteem."

*"For me, in a in a good way, it's a positive because I'm doing something because I'm moving around and I love people. ... If I'm not busy the rest of the week, I become sort of stuck in the house, and then I become sad because when I'm in the house, there's nobody there but me. ... It's enjoyable. It's fun. It provides exercise, and for your health, for your mind."* 

## Summary of Chapter 4

In this Chapter 4, the survey results and focus group results were stated. Many participants were female and African Americans. Out of 16 baseline survey participants, only eight people finished the after-program survey and focus group. The drop group more likely had higher PA levels before the participation. The participants somewhat engaged in PA before the dance program. SDOH factors, such as social support, transportation, and neighborhood context were mentioned as facilitators and barriers for PA. The "Positive Motion" program generally received good reviews. The participants appreciated the socialization opportunity and inclusive culture of the program.

#### **Chapter 5 Conclusions, Implications, and Recommendations**

In this chapter, there will be a summary of key results, strength and limitation, recommendations, and conclusions. The study is about the motivation for physical activity (PA) for older people. The "Positive Motion" dance program was conducted for 10 weeks for 16 participants. The surveys and focus groups were conducted before and after the dance intervention.

## Summary of key results

In this section, we discuss the research participants' demographics, their PA levels, and facilitators and barriers to PA. Then, we describe the after-program focus group results and the comparison between baseline and after-program surveys. At the end of the section, a summary of the evaluation of the "Positive Motion" program is presented.

#### Demographics and PA levels

The study participants represent the demographics of older adults in Atlanta on some accounts but diverge on others. In our study, most participants (93.8%) graduated from at least high school, and 62.5% of participants had higher education, and similarly in Atlanta, 92.1% and 55.6% of the adults were a high school graduate or higher or a bachelor's degree or higher in 2017-2022 (United States Census Bureau, n.d.-a). The majority of the participants were female (81.3%) and Black/African American (68.8%), whereas at the city-level in Atlanta, 51.1% were female, and 48.2% were Black/African American in 2022 (United States Census Bureau, n.d.-a). There was no consistent tendency shown in living situation; 4 people lived alone, 4 people lived with 1 person, and 4 participants lived in a senior living facility.

The research participants engaged in PA at higher levels than the target population in Atlanta. Since the research participants were recruited from the "Positive Motion" dance program participants, they were interested in that form of PA. Walking was a primary PA for 56.3% and a secondary PA for 31.3% of the participants. This is aligned with the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommendation of brisk walking as PA because it does not require any special skills or equipment (CDC, 2022c). All the participants in our study were doing some form of non-sedentary activity. This is contradictory to adults in Georgia in 2021, wherein 34.4% were physically *inactive* (America's health rankings, n.d.-b) and probably due to their participation in an exercise/dance program.

#### Baseline surveys and focus group findings: facilitators to PA

The baseline surveys and focus group demonstrated that the key facilitators were intrinsic motivation, social support, and transportation, while the key barriers were health conditions and social determinants of health (SDOH).

The participants in this study also described various motivation styles for engaging in PA. In the Self-Determination Theory (SDT), motivation is classified into amotivation, extrinsic motivation, and intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Intrinsic motivation is more selfdetermined than extrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The study participants' descriptions only cover *extrinsic motivation*, such as socialization or physical health, and *intrinsic motivation*, but do not discuss *amotivation*.

There is a discrepancy of results related to extrinsic motivation between the Motives for Physical Activities Measure – Revised (MPAM-R) and the focus group. In the MPAM-R at our baseline study, they had the lowest score in the social category (4.9 ± 1.7) among the five categories. It could directly suggest that they had less extrinsic (social) motivation. The same tendency was shown in the after-program survey. However, in the focus group, most topics related to extrinsic motivation were highly focused on socialization, although the interview style as focus group could affect the results. This difference between MPAM-R and the focus group is caused because two participants had very low scores (1.8 and 2.2 out of 7 in the baseline survey) in the social category, which lowered the average baseline social category MPAM-R score. The low number of research participants makes it harder to interpret the average MPAM-R scores. In the previous research, MPAM-R was validated in multiple situations (Battistelli et al., 2016; Wilson et al., 2002). Also, the research that combined MPAM-R and qualitative research did not present this type of discrepancy (Withall et al., 2011). Another study of dance intervention for older people used qualitative research and indicated wellbeing as extrinsic motivation for PA (Zygmont et al., 2023).

On the other hand, regarding intrinsic motivation, there was no large discrepancy between MPAM-R and focus group in our research, although intrinsic motivation was not the main topic in the previous qualitative research (Withall et al., 2011). Our participants had the higher score at interest/enjoyment ( $5.8 \pm 1.3$ ). It could mean that they had intrinsic motivation. Also, some participants expressed their intrinsic motivation; for example, a participant mentioned she always wanted to join a dance class. In the similar previous research in the United Kingdom, however, few participant mentioned intrinsic motivation for PA in their focus group, although people had a higher MPAM-R score in interest/enjoyment category than in

other categories (Withall et al., 2011). In the research, the PA intervention included dance as well as other components; the participants were more likely to mention their extrinsic motivation related to fitness or health.

More detailed analysis based on SDT suggested that introjected regulation could be seen among various PA levels of the participants. Ryan & Deci (2000) classified extrinsic motivation into external regulation, introjected regulation, identified regulation, and integrated regulation. In our research, the participants mentioned family and friends/neighbors as examples of introjected regulation and identified regulation at the baseline focus group, although no external regulation was stated. Regarding introjected regulation, a participant mentioned her mother as an example of physical inactivity and suffering from diseases. The fear of getting sick could be an external motivation in this case. Also, the interview excerpts related to identified regulation include PA as taking care of grandchildren or visiting IKEA with a friend for shopping. Both people enjoyed the objectives of the behaviors – caring for grandchildren and having time with a friend – but the main reasons for the behaviors were not PA. In the previous research, less physically active older people mentioned external regulation or introjected regulation, while more physically active older people mentioned introjected regulation and intrinsic motivation (Ferrand et al., 2012). We also found that the participants had somewhat non-sedentary PA, but they did not meet the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans recommendations; the participants were low-moderate PA level and showed their introjected regulation.

Knowledge about the impact of PA on health could be relevant to increase in PA. Many

benefits of PA are known, such as improving physical and mental health (Piercy et al., 2018). The knowledge would be considered introjected regulation. The existing literature suggested that more knowledge could increase older adults' PA (Goggin & Morrow, 2001). In our study, even though knowledge was not explicitly discussed in the focus group, the background knowledge positively affected their PA as a facilitator. Furthermore, one of our participants mentioned her mother as an example of someone who is physically *inactive*. This participant's remark was based on her knowledge of the relationship between physical *inactivity* and getting sick. This example shows that PA-related knowledge would encourage older people to have more PA.

#### Baseline surveys and focus group findings: barriers for PA

We also identify several barriers to PA, such as health conditions and social determinants of health (SDOH). In terms of health conditions, barriers are the participants' health status and the coronavirus disease (COVID) pandemic. Many participants in our research had difficulty walking and had to use a cane, handcart for elderly, or a wheelchair when moving. This is consistent with one of six themes Franco et al. (2015) mentioned; physical limitation could be a barrier to PA. In addition, our study participants mentioned how COVID pandemic negatively influenced their PA, which is also supported by previous research (Oliveira et al., 2022).

When considering SDOH as barriers to PA, results of the focus groups reveal some reasons that are specific to Atlanta and our population with their movement limitations. The transportation system was mentioned as not reliable because of unprecise service availability,

although Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority (MARTA) Mobility Bus was helpful for people living in a senior living facility. In addition, safety concerns negatively affect walkability in Atlanta. Moreover, cold or hot weather disturbs people's opportunities for PA. The finding is also supported by previous research. Access difficulties, including transportation, safety, and weather, are one of the six themes that impact older people's PA (Franco et al., 2015).

However, the participants are eager to overcome the barriers. When the neighborhood context or health conditions interrupted their PA, they overcame the barriers with the help of their family and friends/neighbors. For example, when a participant could not walk due to safety issue, her husband walked with her; therefore, the companionship increased her PA. Also, when a participant had a heart attack, her friend helped her, and it resulted in a good relationship. Then, they went on a trip together. The focus group suggests that family and friends/neighbors are helpful to overcome the barriers to PA. Although this research suggests that family could help older people overcome their barriers to PA, the previous research suggests that families are often barriers to PA because family responsibilities lead to a lack of time for PA (Bantham et al., 2021; Gothe & Kendall, 2016). The impact of family on older people's PA could be complex and different from person to person and needs to be more researched.

Further research on how older people can overcome inclement weather needs to be assessed more. In our research in Atlanta, when the inclement weather (hot/cold weather or rain) bothered their PA, they overcame the barrier by doing PA indoors or using cars. The previous research only indicated the factors of weather that could affect PA. In general

population, day length and temperature affects moderate to vigorous PA (Welch et al., 2018). For older adults in Scotland, the United Kingdom, day length and minimum temperature are associated with their PA (Witham et al., 2014). Perhaps exploring community venues, such as malls, senior centers, and churches, that could host physical activity is needed for seniors.

Barriers to PA are various from individual level to societal system (Franco et al., 2015). The focus group in our research identified from the individual and interpersonal levels to the environmental barriers specific to Atlanta. The previous research also recognized older peoples' personal health problems and community/society level problems, such as weather, transportation, and safety (Colley et al., 2019; Laverty et al., 2018; Van Holle et al., 2014).

## After-program focus group findings

External regulation could be related to the participants' motivation. As mentioned above, there was no clear comment that could be categorized into external regulation because participation in the "Positive Motion" program was voluntary. Also, in the previous research, only lower physically active people mentioned external regulation (Ferrand et al., 2012). However, the participants in our study received a Kroger gift card after eight or more session participants out of ten in addition to the baseline and after-program surveys and focus groups, which could be their external regulation.

In terms of integrated regulation, some participants mentioned that they enjoyed the "Positive Motion" program through their socialization. Dance originally has social components (Malkogeorgos et al., 2011). Therefore, the participants enjoyed PA and socialization through the dance at the same time.

#### Comparison between baseline survey and after-program survey

We conducted MPAM-R and EQ-5D-3L (survey for quality of life (QoL)) at baseline and after-program survey. There was no difference in the results. However, at EQ-5D-3L, the mean score of today's QoL decreased from 74.6  $\pm$  22.8 at baseline survey to 60.0  $\pm$  17.7 at afterprogram survey. The difference looked statistically significant, but it was not. In the baseline score, the mean score of today's QoL was 84.8  $\pm$  17.5 and 64.4  $\pm$  24.0 for the drop group and the retention group, respectively, which was statistically significant different (Z=2.06, p = 0.04). Among the participants who finished both baseline and after-program surveys, the mean score of today's QoL changed from 64.4  $\pm$  24.0 to 60.0  $\pm$  17.7, which was not a significant change.

The reason for the not-significant change between baseline and after-program surveys could be due to the number of participants, the low response of participants, and the weak intensity of program. Only eight people (50%) joined the after-program survey. Also, the intervention was only 45-minute once-a-week low-to-moderate-intensity program. Because of the physical disability of the participants, they are not recommended to have 150-minutes-a-week moderate-intensity PA, according to the guidelines (United States Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.-a). However, it would not be enough to affect the change in MPAM-R or 5Q-5D-3L. Although the quantitative data do not show statistically significant changes, the focus group results indicate that the participants recognized the benefits from the "Positive Motion" program such as eating habits and mental health. It will be discussed in the next section "evaluation of the 'Positive Motion' program."

## Evaluation of the "Positive Motion" program

The program has overall good feedback. All participants mentioned that they were very satisfied (75%) or satisfied (25%) with the program. The participants preferred the "Positive Motion" program because of the program characteristics. Through the dance session, the participants enjoyed socialization. Also, they appreciated diverse and inclusive culture, especially various levels of their physical disability. In the focus group, the participants mentioned the program flexibility, which created diverse and inclusive culture. In the previous research, an exercise intervention for older Korean immigrants to the Unites States achieved a high satisfaction and attendance by adjusting the program based on the participants' values (Sin et al., 2005). A systematic review indicated that intrinsic motivation and identified regulation leads to program participation (Teixeira et al., 2012).

From the demographic data, the "Positive Motion" program would be appropriate for individuals with low-medium levels of PA. As mentioned in Table 2, all four participants who thought they were "very physically active" dropped out of the program. In addition, the mean age of the drop group was  $64.1 \pm 7.2$ ; the mean age of the retention group was  $72.8 \pm 11.3$ , which was not statistically significantly different. However, older people, in general, have less PA (Evenson et al., 2012). Therefore, the program will be favorable to older generations who need to have more PA.

At the education or economic level, there were no clear statistical trends between the retention and drop groups. We cannot discuss the association between participation and gender, race/ethnicity, or living situation because the number of participants limited further

data analyses.

The participants in the retention group realized some positive impacts on eating habits and mental health. The impact of PA intervention on eating habits needs to be assessed in the future, although there is much existing research that combines PA and nutrition (Racey et al., 2021). The previous research supported the positive impact of PA on mental health (Patel et al., 2013).

#### Strength and limitation

The research has several strengths and limitations. Regarding the strength, the research was conducted in good collaboration with the community. The surveys and focus groups were conducted in The Atlanta Dance Academy (TADA) or a senior living facility, where seven (43.8%) participants lived or worked. The senior living facility prepared three employees and a shuttle bus to support the four residents' participation in the "Positive Motion" program. All seven people also participated in the research.

Second, the researchers investigated the participants' motivation for PA from multiple perspectives, including the baseline and after-program surveys and focus groups. The researchers elicited their general perceptions of PA in baseline surveys and focus groups. In after-program surveys and focus groups, the researchers explored the "Positive Motion" program's impact on their perceptions of PA. By doing so, the researchers identified some Atlanta-specific barriers for PA for older people and their coping methods.

Third, the participants had various backgrounds and physical levels. As shown in Table 1,

the participants had different education levels or living situations. Also, some participants could walk alone, while others depended on wheelchairs. The participants also represented the diverse community of older people or people with disabilities living in Atlanta.

Despite the various strengths, the research had several weaknesses. First, the retention rate of the research was low (50%). Although TADA succeeded in increasing the number of participants of the "Positive Motion" program by word of mouth, the research participants ended in small numbers because we only recruited for only a few weeks. On the other hand, the research participants were recruited at the very early stage of the "Positive Motion" program; the dance program did not severely influence their baseline survey or focus group results. Also, the researchers tried to contact the individuals who dropped out but were not able to reach participants.

Second, the participants could have better PA motivation or social support than the general population, older people and people with disabilities living in Atlanta. The research participants were recruited from the "Positive Motion" participants. They applied for the dance program voluntarily or with the help of their family/friends. Also, all 16 participants mentioned they were doing something out of sitting in a day. Therefore, the research participants could have better access to PA because of their better PA motivation and their social support.

Third, the focus group was chosen instead of individual interviews. Although the motivation for PA was relatively casual topics to discuss, some participants could not be comfortable with talking in front of other program participants. The participants gathered at TADA weekly for the dance classes, and some participants may not have wanted to share their

motivation for PA with other participants.

#### **Recommendations**

This section includes recommendations for the "Positive Motion" program, recommendations for older people living in Atlanta, and suggestions for future research.

## Recommendations for the "Positive Motion" program

First, the "Positive Motion" program is recommended for older adults or people with disabilities living in Atlanta, especially for people who are not very physically active. The program had a highly satisfactory review from the participants who finished 10-week dance classes. The program gave the population the light to moderate-intensity PA. Based on the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, the "Positive Motion" program is assigned as light-intensity activity if a participant sits or moderate-intensity activity if they stand. Adults are recommended to have at least 150 minutes a week of moderate-intensity, but older adults do not need to follow the 150-minute rule when their fitness level or chronic conditions do not let them do so. The "Positive Motion" program succeeded in providing 45-minute light- or moderate-intensity activity to the population.

Next, the inclusive culture should be respected and continued. The participants highlighted that they liked the instructor's flexibility and the participants' diverse physical levels. These characteristics created an inclusive culture for the "Positive Motion" participants. Also, the participants enjoyed socialization through the program. The inclusive culture could encourage the participants to communicate with each other and help with program retention.

Third, new music or dance could be incorporated into the "Positive Motion" program every 2 or 3 weeks based on their preference. Most program reviews were positive, and only one improvement comment said, "*I need more variety of things to do.*" The comment did not specify the speaker's desired variety, but the new dance could expand the movement in the program. However, another participant mentioned the "Macarena" dance she learned through the dance program. The dance skills were not often mentioned in the focus group; MPAM-R did not show a higher score in the competence category. Even though skill acquisition has not often been identified as motivation for older adults, it is essential in general dance education (Stehr et al., 2021). Therefore, changing many songs every week could disturb the learning process. The program uses about 13-15 songs in one session, so it could be recommended that one or two songs could be changed to encourage the participants to dance new songs.

## Recommendations for older people living in Atlanta

First, social support could always be offered and evaluated. Social isolation is a critical issue for all older adults; intervention developed for the population should be tailored to individuals or groups based on their personality or context (Fakoya et al., 2020). In the focus group, the participants mentioned the importance of social support. As the "Positive Motion" program improved some participants' mental health, social isolation support could be monitored for older adults living in Atlanta.

Next, transportation could be improved for participation in structured PA programs. Even though MARTA Mobility Bus was helpful for the "Positive Motion" participants, older adults living in Atlanta generally suffered from inconvenient public transportation and traffic jams. Also, the participants reported safety concerns. Better transportation could be assessed for participants and encouraged in order for the population to have more PA.

#### Suggestions for future research

First, more participants could be recruited for future delivery of the program. We had only eight participants for the after-program surveys and focus groups. In addition, no participant in the drop group came back for the after-program survey or focus group. TADA decided to continue the "Positive Motion" program after the research team finished the data collection. Therefore, future program evaluation could explore qualitatively reason for why the participants who were retained in the program stayed longer, how to recruit new program participants, and drop-out of some participants.

Next, more perspectives of the supporters, individuals who can offer support, could be investigated. In the focus group, social support was repeatedly highlighted. However, the focus group did not give us the physical or psychological burden of social support givers. The need for social support for older adults will increase in the aging society, but the resource could be decreasing. Sustainable social support should be discussed in the future. To figure it out, the perspectives of support givers (caregivers) could be incorporated into the research.

Third, older people overcoming the environmental barriers to PA could be further researched. In our research, older people overcame safety issues or inclement weather with the support of their families or friends/neighbors; however, little was researched on the topic for older adults among previous research.

#### Conclusions

This study examined motivation for PA for older adults living in Atlanta and the impact of the "Positive Motion" program. The program supports older adults who do not have enough PA. Social support, including families or friends/neighbors, can facilitate PA for this population and help them overcome the barriers to PA. The social interaction results in PA as extrinsic motivation. Intrinsic motivation, enjoying PA itself, helped the participants join and retain in the program. Depending on each participant's SDOH barrier, such as neighborhood context, transportation, or inclement weather, necessary social support could be provided to overcome the barriers to PA and improve their overall well-being.

# References

Amagasa, S., Fukushima, N., Kikuchi, H., Takamiya, T., Odagiri, Y., Oka, K., & Inoue, S. (2018).
 Drivers Are More Physically Active Than Non-Drivers in Older Adults. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 15(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15061094</u>

America's health rankings. (n.d.-a). 2021 senior report.

https://www.americashealthrankings.org/learn/reports/2021-senior-report/key-

findings-behaviors

America's health rankings. (n.d.-b). *Annual Report*. Retrieved November 20, 2022 from <u>https://www.americashealthrankings.org/explore/annual/measure/Sedentary/populati</u> <u>on/Sedentary\_65\_C/state/GA?edition-year=2021</u>

Arrieta, H., Rezola-Pardo, C., Echeverria, I., Iturburu, M., Gil, S. M., Yanguas, J. J., Irazusta, J., & Rodriguez-Larrad, A. (2018). Physical activity and fitness are associated with verbal memory, quality of life and depression among nursing home residents: preliminary data of a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Geriatr*, *18*(1), 80.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-018-0770-y

Ashton, L. M., Hutchesson, M. J., Rollo, M. E., Morgan, P. J., & Collins, C. E. (2017). Motivators and Barriers to Engaging in Healthy Eating and Physical Activity. *Am J Mens Health*, *11*(2), 330-343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988316680936</u>

Baer, B., Bhushan, A., Taleb, H. A., Vasquez, J., & Thomas, R. (2016). The Right to Health of Older People. *Gerontologist*, *56 Suppl 2*, S206-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnw039</u>

- Bammann, K., Recke, C., Albrecht, B. M., Stalling, I., & Doerwald, F. (2021). Promoting Physical Activity Among Older Adults Using Community-Based Participatory Research With an Adapted PRECEDE-PROCEED Model Approach: The AEQUIPA/OUTDOOR ACTIVE Project.
   Am J Health Promot, 35(3), 409-420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117120974876</u>
- Bantham, A., Taverno Ross, S. E., Sebastião, E., & Hall, G. (2021). Overcoming barriers to physical activity in underserved populations. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 64*, 64-71. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2020.11.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2020.11.002</a>
- Battistelli, A., Montani, F., Guicciardi, M., & Bertinato, L. (2016). Regulation of exercise behaviour and motives for physical activities: The Italian validation of BREQ and MPAM-R questionnaires. *Psychologie française*, *61*(4), 333-348.
- Bauman, A. E., Reis, R. S., Sallis, J. F., Wells, J. C., Loos, R. J., & Martin, B. W. (2012). Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not? *Lancet*, *380*(9838), 258-271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60735-1</u>
- Beauchamp, M. R., Ruissen, G. R., Dunlop, W. L., Estabrooks, P. A., Harden, S. M., Wolf, S. A.,
  Liu, Y., Schmader, T., Puterman, E., Sheel, A. W., & Rhodes, R. E. (2018). Group-based
  physical activity for older adults (GOAL) randomized controlled trial: Exercise adherence
  outcomes. *Health Psychol*, *37*(5), 451-461. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000615">https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000615</a>
- Becerra, M. B., Herring, P., Marshak, H. H., & Banta, J. E. (2015). Social Determinants of Physical Activity Among Adult Asian-Americans: Results from a Population-Based Survey in California. *J Immigr Minor Health*, *17*(4), 1061-1069. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-014-0074-z</u>

Bender, A. A., Halpin, S. N., Kemp, C. L., & Perkins, M. M. (2021). Barriers and Facilitators to
 Exercise Participation Among Frail Older African American Assisted Living Residents. J
 Appl Gerontol, 40(3), 268-277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464819893923</u>

Bernard, R., Cheney, M., Wilkerson, A., Karki, I., & Maness, S. B. (2020). Utilizing Social
 Determinants of Health to Elicit Perceived Control Beliefs About Physical Activity Among
 African Americans. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities, 7(2), 336-344.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-019-00662-0

Best Neighborhood. (n.d.). *The highest and lowest income areas in Atlanta, GA*. Retrieved February 18 from https://bestneighborhood.org/household-income-atlanta-ga/

Bezyak, J. L., Sabella, S., Hammel, J., McDonald, K., Jones, R. A., & Barton, D. (2020). Community participation and public transportation barriers experienced by people with disabilities.
 *Disabil Rehabil*, 42(23), 3275-3283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2019.1590469</u>

- Bhardwaj, R., Amiri, S., Buchwald, D., & Amram, O. (2020). Environmental Correlates of
  Reaching a Centenarian Age: Analysis of 144,665 Deaths in Washington State for 20112015. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 17(8). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17082828</u>
- Braveman, P., & Gottlieb, L. (2014). The social determinants of health: it's time to consider the causes of the causes. *Public Health Rep, 129 Suppl 2*(Suppl 2), 19-31.

https://doi.org/10.1177/00333549141291s206

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist*, *32*, 513-531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.32.7.513</u>

Browne, J., Medenblik, A., Pebole, M., Gregg, J. J., & Hall, K. S. (2021). Qualitative Analysis of a

Supervised Exercise Program for Older Veterans With PTSD. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry,

29(6), 565-572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2020.10.014

Bungay, H., Hughes, S., Jacobs, C., & Zhang, J. (2022). Dance for Health: the impact of creative

dance sessions on older people in an acute hospital setting. Arts Health, 14(1), 1-13.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17533015.2020.1725072

Center for self-determination theory. (n.d.). *Motives for Physical Activity Measure – Revised* 

(MPAM-R). https://selfdeterminationtheory.org/motives-for-physical-activity-measure-

revised/

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017a). *Creating an active America, together*.

https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/downloads/Active People Healthy Nation at-aglance 082018 508.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017b, February 17). Glossary.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis/physical\_activity/pa\_glossary.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity:

Data, Trends and Maps.

https://nccd.cdc.gov/dnpao\_dtm/rdPage.aspx?rdReport=DNPAO\_DTM.ExploreByLocati

on&rdRequestForwarding=Form

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022a, September 8). Promoting health for older

adults.

https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/resources/publications/factsheets/promotinghealth-for-older-adults.htm Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022b, January 18). *The Social-Ecological Model: A Framework for Prevention*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/about/social-</u> <u>ecologicalmodel.html</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022c, June 3). Walking.

https://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/walking/index.htm

Chad, K. E., Reeder, B. A., Harrison, E. L., Ashworth, N. L., Sheppard, S. M., Schultz, S. L., Bruner, B. G., Fisher, K. L., & Lawson, J. A. (2005). Profile of physical activity levels in communitydwelling older adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, *37*(10), 1774-1784.

https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000181303.51937.9c

- Chodzko-Zajko, W. J., Proctor, D. N., Fiatarone Singh, M. A., Minson, C. T., Nigg, C. R., Salem, G. J., & Skinner, J. S. (2009). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and physical activity for older adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, *41*(7), 1510-1530.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181a0c95c">https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181a0c95c</a>
- Cleland, C. L., Tully, M. A., Kee, F., & Cupples, M. E. (2012). The effectiveness of physical activity interventions in socio-economically disadvantaged communities: a systematic review. *Prev Med*, *54*(6), 371-380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.04.004</u>
- Colley, R. C., Christidis, T., Michaud, I., Tjepkema, M., & Ross, N. A. (2019). The association between walkable neighbourhoods and physical activity across the lifespan. *Health Rep*, *30*(9), 3-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.25318/82-003-x201900900001-eng</u>
- Dacey, M., Baltzell, A., & Zaichkowsky, L. (2008). Older adults' intrinsic and extrinsic motivation toward physical activity. *Am J Health Behav*, *32*(6), 570-582.

https://doi.org/10.5555/ajhb.2008.32.6.570

de Jong, L. D., Coe, D., Bailey, C., Adams, N., & Skelton, D. A. (2021). Views and experiences of visually impaired older people and exercise instructors about the Falls Management Exercise programme: a qualitative study. *Disabil Rehabil, 43*(18), 2561-2567.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2019.1704894

de Labra, C., Guimaraes-Pinheiro, C., Maseda, A., Lorenzo, T., & Millán-Calenti, J. C. (2015). Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Geriatr*, *15*, 154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-</u>

# <u>015-0155-4</u>

- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2013). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Devereux-Fitzgerald, A., Powell, R., & French, D. P. (2021). The Acceptability of Physical Activity to Older Adults Living in Lower Socioeconomic Status Areas: A Multi-Perspective Study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *18*(22). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182211784</u>
- Esmail, A., Vrinceanu, T., Lussier, M., Predovan, D., Berryman, N., Houle, J., Karelis, A., Grenier, S., Minh Vu, T. T., Villalpando, J. M., & Bherer, L. (2020). Effects of Dance/Movement Training vs. Aerobic Exercise Training on cognition, physical fitness and quality of life in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *J Bodyw Mov Ther*, *24*(1), 212-220.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbmt.2019.05.004

EuroQol Group. (1990). EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. *Health Policy*, *16*(3), 199-208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-8510(90)90421-9</u>

EuroQol Office. (2022, January 11). *EQ-5D-3L | About*. <u>https://euroqol.org/eq-5d-</u> instruments/eq-5d-3l-about/

- Evenson, K. R., Buchner, D. M., & Morland, K. B. (2012). Objective measurement of physical activity and sedentary behavior among US adults aged 60 years or older. *Prev Chronic Dis*, *9*, E26.
- Fakoya, O. A., McCorry, N. K., & Donnelly, M. (2020). Loneliness and social isolation interventions for older adults: a scoping review of reviews. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 129. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8251-6
- Ferrand, C., Nasarre, S., Hautier, C., & Bonnefoy, M. (2012). Aging and well-being in French older adults regularly practicing physical activity: a self-determination perspective. J Aging Phys Act, 20(2), 215-230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.20.2.215</u>
- Franco, M. R., Tong, A., Howard, K., Sherrington, C., Ferreira, P. H., Pinto, R. Z., & Ferreira, M. L. (2015). Older people's perspectives on participation in physical activity: a systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative literature. *Br J Sports Med*, *49*(19), 1268-

1276. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2014-094015

- Frederick, C. M., & Ryan, R. M. (1995). Self-determination in sport: A review using cognitive evaluation theory. *International Journal of Sport Psychology*.
- Galloza, J., Castillo, B., & Micheo, W. (2017). Benefits of Exercise in the Older Population. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am*, *28*(4), 659-669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmr.2017.06.001</u>

Geotab. (n.d.). Retrieved November 20, 2022 from <u>https://www.geotab.com/time-to-</u> <u>commute/</u> Gilbody, S., Littlewood, E., McMillan, D., Chew-Graham, C. A., Bailey, D., Gascoyne, S., Sloan, C.,
Burke, L., Coventry, P., Crosland, S., Fairhurst, C., Henry, A., Hewitt, C., Joshi, K., Ryde, E.,
Shearsmith, L., Traviss-Turner, G., Woodhouse, R., Clegg, A., . . . Ekers, D. (2021).
Behavioural activation to prevent depression and loneliness among socially isolated
older people with long-term conditions: The BASIL COVID-19 pilot randomised
controlled trial. *PLoS Med*, *18*(10), e1003779.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003779

- Goggin, N. L., & Morrow, J. R. (2001). Physical activity behaviors of older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, *9*(1), 58-66.
- Gothe, N. P., & Kendall, B. J. (2016). Barriers, Motivations, and Preferences for Physical Activity Among Female African American Older Adults. *Gerontol Geriatr Med*, *2*, 2333721416677399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333721416677399</u>
- Gourlan, M., Bernard, P., Bortolon, C., Romain, A. J., Lareyre, O., Carayol, M., Ninot, G., &
   Boiché, J. (2016). Efficacy of theory-based interventions to promote physical activity. A
   meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Health Psychol Rev*, 10(1), 50-66.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2014.981777">https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2014.981777</a>
- Governor's office of planning and budget. (n.d.). *Population projections visualization 2021 interim long-tem population projections*. Retrieved January 14, 2023 from <u>https://insights.georgia.gov/views/PopulationEstimates/PopulationProjectionsVisualizat</u> <u>ion?%3Adisplay\_count=n&%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y&%3Aori</u> <u>gin=viz\_share\_link&%3AshowAppBanner=false&%3AshowVizHome=n</u>
Groessl, E. J., Kaplan, R. M., Rejeski, W. J., Katula, J. A., Glynn, N. W., King, A. C., Anton, S. D., Walkup, M., Lu, C. J., Reid, K., Spring, B., & Pahor, M. (2019). Physical Activity and Performance Impact Long-term Quality of Life in Older Adults at Risk for Major Mobility Disability. *Am J Prev Med*, *56*(1), 141-146.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.09.006

- Gronek, P., Boraczyński, M., Haas, A. N., Adamczyk, J., Pawlaczyk, M., Czarny, W., Clark, C. C.,
  Czerniak, U., Demuth, A., Celka, R., Wycichowska, P., Gronek, J., & Król-Zielińska, M.
  (2021). Body adaptation to Dance: A Gerontological Perspective. *Aging Dis*, *12*(3), 902-913. <a href="https://doi.org/10.14336/ad.2020.1107">https://doi.org/10.14336/ad.2020.1107</a>
- Hackney, M. E., Hall, C. D., Echt, K. V., & Wolf, S. L. (2013). Dancing for balance: feasibility and efficacy in oldest-old adults with visual impairment. *Nurs Res*, *62*(2), 138-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e318283f68e</u>
- Hagger, M., & Chatzisarantis, N. (2008). Self-determination Theory and the psychology of exercise. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 1(1), 79-103.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17509840701827437

- Halbert, C. H., Jefferson, M. S., Drake, R., Lilly, M., Savage, S. J., Nahhas, G. J., Price, S. T., Loftley,
  A. E., & Bauer, A. (2021). Social and clinical determinants of physical activity in prostate
  cancer survivors. *Support Care Cancer*, *29*(1), 459-465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-</u>020-05482-1
- Healthy aging team. (2021, April 23). *The Top 10 Most Common Chronic Conditions in Older Adults*. National Council on Aging. <u>https://www.ncoa.org/article/the-top-10-most-</u>

common-chronic-conditions-in-older-adults

- Hennink, M. M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2020). *Qualitative research methods*. SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Hwang, P. W., & Braun, K. L. (2015). The Effectiveness of Dance Interventions to Improve Older Adults' Health: A Systematic Literature Review. *Altern Ther Health Med*, *21*(5), 64-70.
- Jadczak, A. D., Dollard, J., Mahajan, N., & Visvanathan, R. (2018). The perspectives of pre-frail and frail older people on being advised about exercise: a qualitative study. *Fam Pract*, *35*(3), 330-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmx108</u>
- Jetté, M., Sidney, K., & Blümchen, G. (1990). Metabolic equivalents (METS) in exercise testing, exercise prescription, and evaluation of functional capacity. *Clin Cardiol*, *13*(8), 555-565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/clc.4960130809</u>
- Jiménez-Zazo, F., Romero-Blanco, C., Castro-Lemus, N., Dorado-Suárez, A., & Aznar, S. (2020). Transtheoretical Model for Physical Activity in Older Adults: Systematic Review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *17*(24). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249262</u>
- Kendrick, D., Kumar, A., Carpenter, H., Zijlstra, G. A., Skelton, D. A., Cook, J. R., Stevens, Z.,
  Belcher, C. M., Haworth, D., Gawler, S. J., Gage, H., Masud, T., Bowling, A., Pearl, M.,
  Morris, R. W., Iliffe, S., & Delbaere, K. (2014). Exercise for reducing fear of falling in older
  people living in the community. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2014*(11), Cd009848.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009848.pub2
- Knott, S., Hollis, A., Jimenez, D., Dawson, N., Mabbagu, E., & Beato, M. (2021). Efficacy of Traditional Physical Therapy Versus Otago-Based Exercise in Fall Prevention for ALF-

Residing Older Adults. J Geriatr Phys Ther, 44(4), 210-218.

https://doi.org/10.1519/jpt.000000000000285

Lakes, K. D., Marvin, S., Rowley, J., Nicolas, M. S., Arastoo, S., Viray, L., Orozco, A., & Jurnak, F. (2016). Dancer perceptions of the cognitive, social, emotional, and physical benefits of modern styles of partnered dancing. *Complement Ther Med*, *26*, 117-122.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2016.03.007

- Laverty, A. A., Webb, E., Vamos, E. P., & Millett, C. (2018). Associations of increases in public transport use with physical activity and adiposity in older adults. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*, 15(1), 31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-018-0660-x</u>
- Lavie, C. J., Ozemek, C., Carbone, S., Katzmarzyk, P. T., & Blair, S. N. (2019). Sedentary Behavior, Exercise, and Cardiovascular Health. *Circ Res*, *124*(5), 799-815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/circresaha.118.312669</u>
- Leung, K. M., Ou, K. L., Chung, P. K., & Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C. (2021). Older Adults' Perceptions toward Walking: A Qualitative Study Using a Social-Ecological Model. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 18(14). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18147686</u>
- Lindsay Smith, G., Banting, L., Eime, R., O'Sullivan, G., & van Uffelen, J. G. Z. (2017). The association between social support and physical activity in older adults: a systematic review. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*, *14*(1), 56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0509-8</u>
- Liu, X., Shen, P. L., & Tsai, Y. S. (2021). Dance intervention effects on physical function in healthy older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, *33*(2), 253-263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-019-01440-y

- Lo, Y. P., Chiang, S. L., Lin, C. H., Liu, H. C., & Chiang, L. C. (2020). Effects of Individualized Aerobic Exercise Training on Physical Activity and Health-Related Physical Fitness among Middle-Aged and Older Adults with Multimorbidity: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18010101
- Loh, K. P., Sanapala, C., Di Giovanni, G., Klepin, H. D., Janelsins, M., Schnall, R., Culakova, E.,
   Vertino, P., Susiarjo, M., Mendler, J. H., Liesveld, J. L., Lin, P. J., Dunne, R. F., Kleckner, I.,
   Mustian, K., & Mohile, S. G. (2021). Developing and adapting a mobile health exercise
   intervention for older patients with myeloid neoplasms: A qualitative study. *J Geriatr Oncol*, 12(6), 909-914. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgo.2021.02.023</u>
- Malkogeorgos, A., Zaggelidou, E., Manolopoulos, E., & Zaggelidis, G. (2011). The socialpsychological outcomes of dance practice: A review. *Sport Science Review*, *20*(5-6), 105.
- Martins, L. C. G., Lopes, M. V. O., Diniz, C. M., & Guedes, N. G. (2021). The factors related to a sedentary lifestyle: A meta-analysis review. *J Adv Nurs*, 77(3), 1188-1205.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14669

McNeely, M. E., Duncan, R. P., & Earhart, G. M. (2015). A comparison of dance interventions in people with Parkinson disease and older adults. *Maturitas*, *81*(1), 10-16.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.02.007

McPhee, J. S., French, D. P., Jackson, D., Nazroo, J., Pendleton, N., & Degens, H. (2016). Physical activity in older age: perspectives for healthy ageing and frailty. *Biogerontology*, *17*(3), 567-580. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-016-9641-0</u>

Meng, X., Li, G., Zhang, G., Yin, H., Jia, Y., Wang, S., Shang, B., Wang, C., & Chen, L. (2020).

Effects of dance intervention on frailty among older adults. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr, 88*, 104001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2019.104001</u>

Merom, D., Cumming, R., Mathieu, E., Anstey, K. J., Rissel, C., Simpson, J. M., Morton, R. L.,
 Cerin, E., Sherrington, C., & Lord, S. R. (2013). Can social dancing prevent falls in older
 adults? a protocol of the Dance, Aging, Cognition, Economics (DAnCE) fall prevention
 randomised controlled trial. *BMC Public Health*, *13*, 477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-</u>
 2458-13-477

Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority. (n.d.-a). Leadership at MARTA.

https://www.itsmarta.com/marta-leadership.aspx

Metropolitan Atlanta Rapid Transit Authority. (n.d.-b). MARTA mobility guide.

https://www.itsmarta.com/marta-mobility-guide.aspx

Mudrak, J., Slepicka, P., & Elavsky, S. (2017). Social Cognitive Determinants of Physical Activity in Czech Older Adults. *J Aging Phys Act*, *25*(2), 196-204.

https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2015-0125

Muellmann, S., Forberger, S., Möllers, T., Bröring, E., Zeeb, H., & Pischke, C. R. (2018).

Effectiveness of eHealth interventions for the promotion of physical activity in older

adults: A systematic review. Prev Med, 108, 93-110.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.12.026

National Institute on Aging. (2020, April 3). *Staying Motivated to Exercise: Tips for Older Adults*. <u>https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/staying-motivated-exercise-tips-older-adults</u>

Northey, J. M., Cherbuin, N., Pumpa, K. L., Smee, D. J., & Rattray, B. (2018). Exercise

interventions for cognitive function in adults older than 50: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Br J Sports Med*, *52*(3), 154-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-</u>096587

- O'Neil-Pirozzi, T. M., Cattaneo, G., Solana-Sánchez, J., Gomes-Osman, J., & Pascual-Leone, A. (2022). The Importance of Motivation to Older Adult Physical and Cognitive Exercise Program Development, Initiation, and Adherence. *Front Aging*, *3*, 773944. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fragi.2022.773944</u>
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (n.d.). *Social Determinants of Health*. https://health.gov/healthypeople/priority-areas/social-determinants-health
- Oliveira, M. R., Sudati, I. P., Konzen, V. M., de Campos, A. C., Wibelinger, L. M., Correa, C., Miguel, F. M., Silva, R. N., & Borghi-Silva, A. (2022). Covid-19 and the impact on the physical activity level of elderly people: A systematic review. *Exp Gerontol*, *159*, 111675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exger.2021.111675</u>
- Palmer, K., Robbins, L. B., Ling, J., Kao, T. A., Voskuil, V. R., & Smith, A. L. (2020). Adolescent Autonomous Motivation for Physical Activity: A Concept Analysis. *J Pediatr Nurs*, *54*, e36-e46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2020.04.020</u>
- Palmer, V. J., Gray, C. M., Fitzsimons, C. F., Mutrie, N., Wyke, S., Deary, I. J., Der, G., Chastin, S.
   F. M., & Skelton, D. A. (2019). What Do Older People Do When Sitting and Why?
   Implications for Decreasing Sedentary Behavior. *Gerontologist*, *59*(4), 686-697.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny020">https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny020</a>

Parra, D. C., Wetherell, J. L., Van Zandt, A., Brownson, R. C., Abhishek, J., & Lenze, E. J. (2019). A

qualitative study of older adults' perspectives on initiating exercise and mindfulness practice. *BMC Geriatr*, *19*(1), 354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-019-1375-9</u>

Patel, A., Keogh, J. W., Kolt, G. S., & Schofield, G. M. (2013). The long-term effects of a primary care physical activity intervention on mental health in low-active, community-dwelling older adults. *Aging Ment Health*, *17*(6), 766-772.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2013.781118

- Piercy, K. L., Troiano, R. P., Ballard, R. M., Carlson, S. A., Fulton, J. E., Galuska, D. A., George, S.
  M., & Olson, R. D. (2018). The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. *Jama*, *320*(19), 2020-2028. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.14854</u>
- Pinto, B. M., & Ciccolo, J. T. (2011). Physical activity motivation and cancer survivorship. *Recent Results Cancer Res, 186*, 367-387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-04231-7\_16</u>
- Qiao, X., Ji, L., Jin, Y., Si, H., Bian, Y., Wang, W., & Wang, C. (2021). Development and validation of an instrument to measure beliefs in physical activity among (pre)frail older adults: An integration of the Health Belief Model and the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Patient Educ Couns*, *104*(10), 2544-2551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2021.03.009</u>
- Racey, M., Ali, M. U., Sherifali, D., Fitzpatrick-Lewis, D., Lewis, R., Jovkovic, M., Gramlich, L., Keller, H., Holroyd-Leduc, J., Giguère, A., Tang, A., Bouchard, D., Prorok, J., Kim, P., Lorbergs, A., & Muscedere, J. (2021). Effectiveness of nutrition interventions and combined nutrition and physical activity interventions in older adults with frailty or prefrailty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *CMAJ Open, 9*(3), E744-E756. https://doi.org/10.9778/cmajo.20200248

- Rawal, L. B., Smith, B. J., Quach, H., & Renzaho, A. M. N. (2020). Physical Activity among Adults with Low Socioeconomic Status Living in Industrialized Countries: A Meta-Ethnographic Approach to Understanding Socioecological Complexities. *J Environ Public Health*, 2020, 4283027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/4283027</u>
- Rodríguez, B., & Paris-Garcia, F. (2022). Influence of Dance Programmes on Gait Parameters and Physical Parameters of the Lower Body in Older People: A Systematic Review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *19*(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031547</u>
- Rudolph, I., Schmidt, T., Wozniak, T., Kubin, T., Ruetters, D., & Huebner, J. (2018). Ballroom dancing as physical activity for patients with cancer: a systematic review and report of a pilot project. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol*, 144(4), 759-770. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-</u> <u>018-2606-8</u>
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *Am Psychol*, *55*(1), 68-78.

https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68

- Ryan, R. M., Frederick, C. M., Lepes, D., Rubio, N., & Sheldon, K. M. (1997). Intrinsic motivation and exercise adherence. *International Journal of Sport Psychology*, *28*, 335-354.
- Ryan, R. M., & Grolnick, W. S. (1986). Origins and pawns in the classroom: Self-report and projective assessments of individual differences in children's perceptions. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *50*(3), 550.
- Schrempft, S., Jackowska, M., Hamer, M., & Steptoe, A. (2019). Associations between social isolation, loneliness, and objective physical activity in older men and women. *BMC*

Public Health, 19(1), 74. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6424-y

- Schuch, F. B., Vancampfort, D., Rosenbaum, S., Richards, J., Ward, P. B., Veronese, N., Solmi, M., Cadore, E. L., & Stubbs, B. (2016). Exercise for depression in older adults: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials adjusting for publication bias. *Braz J Psychiatry*, *38*(3), 247-254. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2016-1915
- Seefeldt, V., Malina, R. M., & Clark, M. A. (2002). Factors affecting levels of physical activity in adults. *Sports Med*, 32(3), 143-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200232030-</u> 00001
- Senkowski, V., Gannon, C., & Branscum, P. (2019). Behavior Change Techniques Used in Theory of Planned Behavior Physical Activity Interventions Among Older Adults: A Systematic Review. J Aging Phys Act, 27(5), 746-754. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2018-0103</u>
- Shaw, J. W., Johnson, J. A., & Coons, S. J. (2005). US valuation of the EQ-5D health states: development and testing of the D1 valuation model. *Med Care*, *43*(3), 203-220.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-200503000-00003

Sheppard, A., & Broughton, M. C. (2020). Promoting wellbeing and health through active participation in music and dance: a systematic review. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being, 15(1), 1732526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2020.1732526</u>

Sherrington, C., Fairhall, N. J., Wallbank, G. K., Tiedemann, A., Michaleff, Z. A., Howard, K., Clemson, L., Hopewell, S., & Lamb, S. E. (2019). Exercise for preventing falls in older people living in the community. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 1(1), Cd012424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012424.pub2</u>

- Sin, M. K., Belza, B., Logerfo, J., & Cunningham, S. (2005). Evaluation of a community-based exercise program for elderly Korean immigrants. *Public Health Nurs*, 22(5), 407-413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0737-1209.2005.220505.x</u>
- Sipilä, S., Tirkkonen, A., Savikangas, T., Hänninen, T., Laukkanen, P., Alen, M., Fielding, R. A.,
  Kivipelto, M., Kulmala, J., Rantanen, T., Sihvonen, S. E., Sillanpää, E., Stigsdotter Neely,
  A., & Törmäkangas, T. (2021). Effects of physical and cognitive training on gait speed and
  cognition in older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, *31*(7),
  1518-1533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.13960</u>
- Sparling, P. B., Howard, B. J., Dunstan, D. W., & Owen, N. (2015). Recommendations for physical activity in older adults. *Bmj*, *350*, h100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h100</u>
- Spiteri, K., Broom, D., Bekhet, A. H., de Caro, J. X., Laventure, B., & Grafton, K. (2019). Barriers and Motivators of Physical Activity Participation in Middle-aged and Older-adults - A Systematic Review. *J Aging Phys Act*, *27*(4), 929-944. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2018-</u>

#### <u>0343</u>

- Stehr, P., Luetke Lanfer, H., & Rossmann, C. (2021). Beliefs and motivation regarding physical activity among older adults in Germany: results of a qualitative study. *Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being*, 16(1), 1932025. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2021.1932025</u>
- Stewart, D. E., & Irons, J. Y. (2018). Music, public health, and health promotion: Can music be a social determinant of health? *Music, Health and Wellbeing: Exploring Music for Health Equity and Social Justice*, 17-31.

Sun, M., Min, L., Xu, N., Huang, L., & Li, X. (2021). The Effect of Exercise Intervention on

Reducing the Fall Risk in Older Adults: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *18*(23). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182312562</u>

Teixeira, P. J., Carraça, E. V., Markland, D., Silva, M. N., & Ryan, R. M. (2012). Exercise, physical activity, and self-determination theory: a systematic review. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act, 9*,

78. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-78

The Atlanta Dance Academy. (n.d.). *About TADA*. <u>https://www.tadaatlanta.com/about-us/about</u> United States Census Bureau. (2019). *S0101 Age and sex*.

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=PEPAGE&t=Age%20and%20Sex&tid=ACSST1Y20 19.S0101

United States Census Bureau. (n.d.-a). *QuickFacts Atlanta city, Georgia*. Retrieved March 12 from <u>https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/atlantacitygeorgia</u>

United States Census Bureau. (n.d.-b). QuickFacts Georgia. Retrieved January 15, 2023 from

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/GA/AGE775221#AGE775221

United States Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.-a). *Executive summary physical activity guidelines for Americans 2nd edition*.

https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-10/PAG ExecutiveSummary.pdf

United States Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.-b). Physical activity guidelines

for Americans 2nd edition. https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-

09/Physical Activity Guidelines 2nd edition.pdf

University of Rochester medical center. (n.d.). Our Approach.

https://www.urmc.rochester.edu/community-health/patient-care/self-determination-

theory.aspx

Van Holle, V., Van Cauwenberg, J., Van Dyck, D., Deforche, B., Van de Weghe, N., & De
 Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2014). Relationship between neighborhood walkability and older
 adults' physical activity: results from the Belgian Environmental Physical Activity Study in
 Seniors (BEPAS Seniors). Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act, 11, 110.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-014-0110-3

Vespa, J. (2018, March 13). *The U.S. Joins Other Countries With Large Aging Populations*. United States Census Bureau. Retrieved October 23, 2022 from

https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2018/03/graying-america.html#:~

- Vos, C. M., Saint Arnault, D. M., Struble, L. M., Gallagher, N. A., & Larson, J. L. (2019). The Experience and Meaning of Physical Activity in Assisted Living Facility Residents. *J Aging Phys Act*, *27*(3), 406-412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/japa.2018-0026</u>
- Wang, Q., Jiang, X., Shen, Y., Yao, P., Chen, J., Zhou, Y., Gu, Y., Qian, Z., & Cao, X. (2020).
  Effectiveness of exercise intervention on fall-related fractures in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Geriatr*, 20(1), 322. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01721-6">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01721-6</a>
- Watson, K. B., Carlson, S. A., Gunn, J. P., Galuska, D. A., O'Connor, A., Greenlund, K. J., & Fulton, J. E. (2016). Physical Inactivity Among Adults Aged 50 Years and Older - United States, 2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 65(36), 954-958.

https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6536a3

Welch, W. A., Spring, B., Phillips, S. M., & Siddique, J. (2018). Moderating Effects of Weather-

Related Factors on a Physical Activity Intervention. Am J Prev Med, 54(5), e83-e89.

#### https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.01.025

- Wilson, P. M., Rodgers, W. M., & Fraser, S. N. (2002). Cross-validation of the revised motivation for physical activity measure in active women. *Research quarterly for exercise and sport*, 73(4), 471-477.
- Withall, J., Jago, R., & Fox, K. R. (2011). Why some do but most don't. Barriers and enablers to engaging low-income groups in physical activity programmes: a mixed methods study.
   BMC Public Health, 11, 507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-507</u>
- Witham, M. D., Donnan, P. T., Vadiveloo, T., Sniehotta, F. F., Crombie, I. K., Feng, Z., &
   McMurdo, M. E. (2014). Association of day length and weather conditions with physical activity levels in older community dwelling people. *PLoS One*, *9*(1), e85331.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085331">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085331</a>
- Young, M. D., Plotnikoff, R. C., Collins, C. E., Callister, R., & Morgan, P. J. (2014). Social cognitive theory and physical activity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev*, 15(12), 983-995. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12225</u>
- Zafar, M., Bozzorg, A., & Hackney, M. E. (2017). Adapted Tango improves aspects of participation in older adults versus individuals with Parkinson's disease. *Disabil Rehabil*, 39(22), 2294-2301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2016.1226405</u>

Zygmont, A., Doliński, W., Zawadzka, D., & Pezdek, K. (2023). Uplifted by Dancing Community: From Physical Activity to Well-Being. *Int J Environ Res Public Health, 20*(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20043535

# Appendices

### Baseline survey

## Demographic Questions

- What is your age?
- What is your gender?
  - □ Female
  - □ Male
  - □ Non binary
    - Other (specify)
- Could you tell me your race or ethnicity?
  - □ White
  - □ Black
  - □ Hispanic
  - □ Asian
  - □ Native American
  - □ Other (Describe below)
- What is your highest level of education?
  - □ Not graduated from high school
  - □ Graduated from high school

 $\hfill\square$  Graduated from undergraduate or professional school

□ Higher

- Could you tell me who you live with? How many people do you live with?
- Could you tell me what kind of house you live in?

□ House

□ Apartment

If so, what floor?

Do you have an elevator in your apartment?

🗆 Yes

🗆 No

□ Other (Describe below)

- Could you tell me your marital status?
  - □ Never married
  - □ Married
  - □ Divorced
  - □ Separated
  - $\Box$  Widowed
  - □ Member of unmarried couple
  - □ Other (Describe below)

- What is your annual household income?
  - □ Less than \$30,000
  - □ \$30,000 less than \$60,000
  - □ \$60,000 less than \$90,000
  - □ More than \$90,000
  - Do not know / Do not want to answer
- With whom did you come here today?
  - $\Box$  Alone
  - □ Not alone (Describe below with whom)
- How can you describe today's weather? Did you need an umbrella today?
  - □ Rain / I needed an umbrella today.
  - $\Box$  No rain / I did not need an umbrella today.
- How did you come here today?
  - □ Walk
  - $\Box$  By car If so, who drove the car?
  - □ By bus
  - □ Other (Describe below)
- Could you tell me your height and weight?

Height <u>Feet Inches (or cm)</u>

Weight	lbs	(or	kg)
weigni	201	101	кд

• What chronic conditions do you have?

#### **Physical Activity Questions**

- What do you think about the level of your physical activity?
  - □ Not sufficiently active
  - □ Some physically active
  - □ Satisfactorily physically active
  - $\Box$  I am very physically active
- Do you do anything out of sitting in a day, like walking outside, doing housework,

jogging?

- $\Box$  Yes -> go to the next question
- $\Box$  No -> go to the Demographic Questions
- What kind of movement/physical activity do you do the most?
- How often do you do the activity?
  - $\Box$  1-2 days per week
  - $\Box$  3-4 days per week
  - □ 5-7 days per week
- How long do you do the activity?

- □ Less than 1 hour
- □ 1-2 hours
- □ More than 2 hours
- What kind of movement/physical activity do you do the second most?
- How often do you do the activity?
  - □ 1-2 days per week
  - □ 3-4 days per week
  - □ 5-7 days per week
- How long do you do the activity?
  - □ Less than 1 hour
  - □ 1-2 hours
  - □ More than 2 hours
- How often do you have the exercise to strengthen your muscle?
  - □ 0 days per week
  - □ 1-2 days per week
  - □ 3-4 days per week
  - □ 5-7 days per week

### MPAM-R

The following is a list of reasons why people engage in physical activities, sports and exercise. Keeping in mind your primary physical activity/sport, respond to each question using the scale given, on the basis of how true that response is for you.

1	2	3	4	5	6				7	7	
not at a	all						,	very	/ tru	le	
true fo	r me							for	me		
l particij	pate in physica	al activity:									
Becaus	e I want to be	physically fit.			1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e it's fun.				1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I like engagi	ng in activities	which physically	v challenge me.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I want to ob	tain new skills.			1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I want to loo	ok or maintain <sup>,</sup>	weight so I look	better.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I want to be	with my frienc	ls.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I like to do t	his activity.			1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I want to im	prove existing	skills.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I like the ch	allenge.			1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I want to de	fine my muscle	es so I look bette	er.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e it makes me	e happy.			1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I want to ke	ep up my curre	ent skill level.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Becaus	e I want to ha	ve more energ	у.		1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Because I like activities which are physically challenging.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I like to be with others who are interested in this activity.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to improve my cardiovascular fitness.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to improve my appearance.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I think it's interesting.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to maintain my physical strength to live a healthy life.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to be attractive to others.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to meet new people.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I enjoy this activity.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to maintain my physical health and well-being.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to improve my body shape.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I want to get better at my activity.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I find this activity stimulating.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I will feel physically unattractive if I don't.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because my friends want me to.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I like the excitement of participation.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Because I enjoy spending time with others doing this activity.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

### EQ-5D-3L

Questions about your health	Health Questionnaire English version for the	e USA
Under each heading, please check the ONE <b>MOBILITY</b>	box that best describes your health TODAY.	
I have no problems in walking about		
I have some problems in walking about		
I am confined to bed		
SELF-CARE		
I have no problems with self-care		
I have some problems washing or dressing	myself	
I am unable to wash or dress myself		
USUAL ACTIVITIES (e.g. work, study, house	work, family or leisure activities)	
I have no problems with performing my usu	ual activities	
I have some problems with performing my	usual activities	
I am unable to perform my usual activities.		
PAIN / DISCOMFORT		
I have no pain or discomfort		
I have moderate pain or discomfort		
I have extreme pain or discomfort		
ANXIETY / DEPRESSION		
I am not anxious or depressed		
I am moderately anxious or depressed		
I am extremely anxious or depressed		

© 1998 EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D<sup>m</sup> is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. USA (English) v1.1

#### The best health you can imagine



© 1998 EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D<sup>™</sup> is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. USA (English) v1.1

### Interview guide for baseline focus group

- What do you think about your current physical activity?
- What helps you get active? (facilitators)
- What gets in the way of your being physically active? (barriers)
- How does your living conditions or your community affect your physical activity?

Probe: walkability, public transportation, weather

- Who helps you do physical activity? And how do they help?
- How could you improve the situation? / What kind of support do you think is necessary or helpful?
- Why were you interested in the program? / What do you expect from the program?
- Is there anything additional you want to share with me?

#### Interview guide for after-program focus group

• What were your overall thoughts about the program? What are your thoughts about the activity in the course?

Probe: fun, motivated, bored, dangerous, aspects you like, aspects you dislike

- How has the program affected your attitude to physical activity?
- Did you feel you wanted to drop from the program? If yes, what prevented you from dropping out of the program?
- How has your living condition or things about the community affected the participation to the program?

Probe: stairs, transportation, weather

• How did the program affect other aspects of your life besides physical activity?

Probe: health, food, sleep, physical health, mental health

- How could we improve the program to encourage more physical activity out of the program?
- Is there anything additional you want to share with me?

## Codebook

Code #	Code	Subcode	Definition	Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria	Example
1.0	Perception of Current PA		How a participant perceives their PA	<b>Include</b> how a participant perceives their PA	l need to do more physical activity.
2.0	Type of PA		Types of PA a participant did or does conduct	Include the types of PA a participant mentions, regardless their previous or current experience Exclude the description or opinions about the Positive Motion program for seniors	I used to go to Zumba!
3.0	Motivation for PA		Factors that influence on participation or nonparticipation for PA		
3.1		Facilitators	Factors that encourage a participant to conduct PA	<b>Include</b> a participant's experience and/or opinion about factors that do or could increase a participant's PA	Music help(s) me (move).
3.2		Barriers	Factors that discourage a participant to conduct PA	<b>Include</b> a participant's experience and/or opinion about factors that do or could decrease a participant's PA	I think everything is too expensive almost.
4.0	Social Determinant of Health (SDOH)/Living Conditions		A participant's living conditions related to PA		
4.1		Family	A participant's family (social support) related to PA	<b>Include</b> a participant's experience and/or opinions about how their family do or could influence their	we are close to the family. We support each other, and so they help motivate

			РА	me to do
4.2	Friends/Neighbors	A participant's	Include a participant's experience	when I walk in my
		friends/neighbors	and/or opinions about how their	neighborhood And I
		(social support) related	friends/neighbors do or could	walk, everybody sometime
		to PA	influence their PA	people say "Oh, Hi!" it's a
				rural neighborhood
4.3	Walkability	A participant's	Include a participant's experience	I used to hike a lot of more.
		neighborhood's	and/or opinions about how their	I don't hike it as much
		walkability related to	neighborhood's walkability do or	because of the safety
		РА	could influence their PA	issues.
4.4	Public	A participant's	Include a participant's experience	I don't know how often the
	Transportation	neighborhood's public	and/or opinions about how their	bus comes, and I have no
		transportation related	neighborhood's public	clue how it's close.
		to PA	transportation do or could	
			influence their PA	
4.5	Cars	A participant's or their	Include a participant's experience	A traffic issue
		family's cars related to	and/or opinions about how their	
		PA	or their family's cars do or could	
			influence their PA	
4.6	Weather	Weather related to PA	Include a participant's experience	I cannot handle the cold.
			and/or opinions about how	
			weather do or could influence	
			their PA	
4.7	Stairs	Stairs related to PA	Include a participant's experience	stairs are killing me
			and/or opinions about how stairs	
			do or could influence their PA	
4.8	Shopping	A participant's	Include a participant's experience	one neighbor and I are like
		shopping related to PA	and/or opinions about how their	best friends. We go
			shopping habits do or could	shopping together.
			influence their PA	
4.9	Others	Other factors related	Include a participant's experience	I had a dog for a little while
		to PA	and/or opinions about other	and the dog was walking
			social determinants of health or	me.

				living conditions <b>Exclude</b> a participant's	
				experience and/or opinions about	
				family, friends/neighbors,	
				walkability, public transportation,	
				cars, weather, stairs, or shopping	
5.0	Health Conditions		A participant's health	Include a participant's experience	once I had allergies, I had
			conditions that could	and/or opinions about how their	to do indoors.
			influence their PA	health conditions do or could	
				influence their PA	
6.0	Dance Skills		A participant's	Include a participant's experience	What do I expect? To move
			perception of dance	and/or opinions about how their	more and to start dancing
			skills that could	dance skills do or could influence	better.
			influence their PA	their PA	
7.0	COVID		COVID pandemic that	Include a participant's experience	Since the COVID started
			could influence a	and/or opinions about how	out, I stopped exercising.
			participant's PA	COVID pandemic do or could	
				influence their PA	
8.0	Positive Motion				
	program				
8.1		General Feedback	A participant's general	Include a participant's general	I thought it was excellent.
		about the Program	preference about the	preference, satisfaction, or	It's a good community
			program	feedback about the Positive	program.
				Motion program	
8.2		Program	Program participants	Include a participant's experience	The different variety of
		Participants	that could influence a	and/or opinions about how other	mobility in the class is
			participant's PA	Positive Motions participants do	helpful for me, because l
				or could influence their PA	don't feel so pressured to
					perform.
8.3		Program Instructors	Program instructors	Include a participant's experience	I bet she (the instructor)
			that could influence a	and/or opinions about how	Know how to do that.
			participant's PA	Positive Motions' instructors do	
1				or could influence their PA	

8.4		TADA Studio	A participant's	<b>Include</b> a participant's experience	it's a beautiful studio.
			perception about TADA	and/or opinions about how TADA	
			studio	studio do or could influence their	
				РА	
8.5		Other Comments	A participant's	Include a participant's experience	We're kinda like allowed to
			comments about other	and/or opinions about the	be at our own level.
			perspective's program	Positive Motion program	
				Exclude a participant's	
				experience and/or opinions about	
				general feedback, participants,	
				instructors or studio	
9.0	Influences of PA		How the dance		
			program influences a		
			participant		
9.1		Eating	The dance program's	Include a participant's experience	When I look in the mirror at
			influence on a	and/or opinions about how the	the dance studio, I try to
			participant's eating	Positive Motion program	eat as healthy as possible.
			habit	influenced their eating habit	
				Exclude a participant's	
				experience and/or opinions about	
				their eating habit before the	
				Positive Motion program	
9.2		Sleep	The dance program's	Include a participant's experience	I haven't noticed any
			influence on a	and/or opinions about how the	changes.
			participant's sleep	Positive Motion program	
			habit	influenced their sleeping habit	
				Exclude a participant's	
				experience and/or opinions about	
				their sleeping habit before the	
				Positive Motion program	
9.3		Physical Health	The dance program's	Include a participant's experience	I'm more energetic to to to
			influence on a	and/or opinions about how the	be able to move.
			participant's physical	Positive Motion program	
			health	influenced their physical health	

				<b>Exclude</b> a participant's experience and/or opinions about their physical health before the Positive Motion program	
9.4		Mental Health	The dance program's influence on a participant's mental health	Include a participant's experience and/or opinions about how the Positive Motion program influenced their mental health Exclude a participant's experience and/or opinions about their mental health before the Positive Motion program	it helped my self-esteem.
10.0	Others		Other comments		because I just like to dance